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NATURE OF THE CASE 

The People appeal from the appellate court’s judgment reversing 

defendant’s convictions for aggravated assault, aggravated fleeing or 

attempting to elude a peace officer, and driving under the influence.  A15, 

¶ 78.1  No question is raised on the pleadings. 

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the trial court’s limitation on cross-examination of 

Officer Stapleton about a purported incentive to lie about the circumstances 

in which he shot defendant did not violate the Confrontation Clause, and 

whether the court reasonably exercised its discretion in barring questions 

about the possible employment consequences stemming from the shooting, or, 

alternately, whether any error was harmless. 

2. Whether the trial court did not commit first prong plain error 

when it barred defendant from cross-examining police witnesses about a 

department policy against preparing written reports following an officer-

involved shooting, both because the limitation was not a clear and obvious 

error and because the evidence was not closely balanced. 

3. Whether, regardless of the resolution of the first two issues, the 

Court should reinstate defendant’s convictions for aggravated fleeing or 

attempting to elude a police officer and driving under the influence, because 

any error was necessarily harmless with respect to those convictions. 

                                            
1  The People’s Appendix is cited as “A_,” and the common law record and 
report of proceedings as “C_” and “R__.” 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Defendant Leads Police on an Early-Morning Car Chase 
Through Joliet. 

In the early morning hours of July 30, 2012, defendant, driving a black 

Nissan, arrived intoxicated at the home of the Gallup family on Union Street 

in Joliet.  R593-94, 598-600, 604-05.  After Ralph and Jonathan Gallup heard 

defendant break the window of Ralph’s pickup truck, they went outside and 

saw defendant driving through the alley behind their home.  Id.  Ralph called 

the police and parked his truck perpendicular to the alley in an attempt to 

prevent defendant from leaving.  R605-06.  But defendant drove through a 

neighbor’s yard and onto Union Street.  R595-96, 602, 606-07.  

Joliet Police Officers Adam Stapleton and Eric Zettergren were 

responding to Ralph’s call at around 2:30 a.m. when they encountered 

defendant driving his Nissan north on Union at the intersection with 

Washington Street.  R692-94, 896-98.  The officers turned on their lights and 

tried to conduct a traffic stop, but defendant sped away and led the officers on 

a high-speed chase through the streets of Joliet.  R694-704, 898-902. 

Defendant was forced to stop for a train that was crossing Washington 

Street.  R704-05, 901-03.  Stapleton parked the squad car perpendicular to 

Washington, attempting to block defendant’s escape, and the officers got out 

of their car to make an arrest.  R707-08, 902-03.  Defendant ignored their 

commands to stop his car, drove around the police car, and drove towards 

Officer Stapleton.  R708-14, 904-010.  Fearing for his safety, Stapleton fired 

SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535



3 
 

several shots through defendant’s windshield.  R714-17.  Although injured, 

defendant drove away, and the car chase continued.  R718, 910-11. 

Two additional police cars joined the chase, which continued out of 

Joliet and into neighboring Lockport.  R720-26, 913-15.  Defendant was 

arrested only after he lost control of his car and crashed into a pole.  R726, 

916-18. 

II. Defendant Is Charged and Pleads Guilty to Criminal Damage 
to Property. 

Defendant was charged with (1) aggravated assault for operating his 

vehicle “in a manner which placed [Officer] Stapleton in reasonable 

apprehension of being struck by a moving vehicle, in that the defendant 

accelerated said vehicle towards [ ] Stapleton, knowing [him] to be a peace 

officer engaged in the execution of his official duties”; (2) attempt aggravated 

battery for attempting to “knowingly . . . make physical contact of an 

insulting or provoking nature with [ ] Stapleton”; (3) aggravated fleeing or 

attempting to elude a police officer; (4) criminal damage to property; and 

(5) driving under the influence (DUI).  C162-67.   

Defendant pleaded guilty to criminal damage to property, agreeing 

that he damaged the window of Ralph Gallup’s truck.  R543-49.  He 

proceeded to a jury trial on the remaining counts. 
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III. Defendant’s Jury Trial. 

A. The People present their evidence. 

At trial, the People first called Ralph and Jonathan Gallup and their 

neighbor, Reginald Phillips, to establish that, after damaging Ralph’s truck, 

defendant was seen driving away from the Gallup home in a black Nissan 

around 2:30 a.m. on July 30, 2012.  R592-607. 

Officers Stapleton and Zettergren then testified about encountering 

defendant’s Nissan and the ensuing chase.  Stapleton explained that 

defendant first came to a stop when the officers attempted to pull him over.  

R695.  But when the officers exited their vehicle, defendant sped away.  

R695-96.  The officers got back in their car and pursued defendant as he 

disobeyed multiple stop signs and, at one point, nearly lost control of his 

vehicle.  R696-704.  The police car lights were flashing; the siren was blaring; 

and Stapleton was speaking through the car’s public address system, telling 

defendant to “stop the car, you’re going to get yourself hurt, you’re going to 

hurt somebody else.”  Id. 

Defendant was forced to stop on the 900 block of Washington, where a 

slow-moving train was crossing the road.  R704-05.  Defendant turned his 

Nissan so it faced north across the westbound lane.  R706-07.  Stapleton 

brought the police car to a stop alongside the Nissan, also facing north.  Id.  A 

trailer truck was parked along the south side of the street, facing east.  R709-

10.   
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Stapleton and Zettergren believed the chase had come to an end and 

exited their car.  R708, 711.  To get a better view of the Nissan’s driver, 

Stapleton walked around to the rear of the police car.  R708.  Defendant 

began backing up and turning the Nissan to face the rear end of the police 

car.  R710.  Stapleton and Zettergren repeatedly directed defendant to “stop 

the car.”  R708-09.  But defendant did not comply with the officers’ commands 

and shouted, “what the fuck did you pull me over for?” and “I didn’t do 

anything.”  R709-10.   

Stapleton testified that the Nissan “started to roll forward almost like 

[defendant] took [ ] his foot off the brake.”  R710-12.  Then defendant began 

accelerating, while turning the car farther left, to the south of the police car.  

R712.  Ignoring commands to stop, defendant drove the Nissan between the 

rear of the police car and the parked truck, directly toward Stapleton.  R712-

14.  When Stapleton realized that defendant was driving in his direction, he 

became afraid for his life.  R714.  Forced to react quickly, and believing there 

to be insufficient time to move out of the way, Stapleton backed away from 

defendant’s car while firing at defendant to try to stop the Nissan’s advance.  

R714-17.  Ultimately, Stapleton was able to move out of defendant’s path 

without being struck, but the Nissan passed “[c]lose enough [that Stapleton] 

could feel the wind from the car as it went by.”  R718. 

The People played an audio recording of the incident taken from a 

surveillance camera of the Filtration Group, a business located on the 900 
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block of Washington.  R730-32; Peo. Ex. 6A.  In the recording, Stapleton and 

Zettergren are heard directing defendant to stop the car at least nine times, 

including immediately before gunshots are heard.  R733; Peo. Ex. 6A.  The 

People also played a video clip from the surveillance footage in which 

Stapleton can be seen backing away as the Nissan accelerates past him.  

R737-41; Peo. Ex. 6A.  And the People showed the jury photographs of the 

front of defendant’s Nissan, showing seven bullet holes across the windshield 

and the hood of the car.  R761-62, 1012-20; Peo. Exs. 12-14, 17-23. 

Stapleton testified that after avoiding being hit by the Nissan, he and 

Zettergren returned to their car and rejoined the pursuit of defendant.  R718-

19.  The officers’ vehicle quickly caught up with, and eventually passed, two 

other police vehicles that had intercepted defendant and were pursuing the 

Nissan north on Henderson Street.  R719-21.  Defendant disobeyed several 

more stop signs and traffic signals as he drove through Joliet with the three 

police cars in pursuit.  R720-24.  Stapleton estimated that defendant drove at 

speeds of more than 80 miles per hour.  R725-26. 

Shortly after defendant crossed from Joliet into Lockport, he lost 

control of the Nissan as he turned right from State Street onto Division.  

R726.  The Nissan slid across the intersection and crashed into a pole, coming 

to a stop.  Id.  Several officers instructed defendant to get out of the car and 

tried to physically remove him, but defendant resisted.  R874-76.  One officer 

asked if anyone had a Taser, and Stapleton then backed away from defendant 
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and deployed his Taser.  R876.  Defendant then got out of the Nissan.  Id.  

The officers placed defendant under arrest and then provided first aid when 

they realized that he had been shot.  R876-77. 

Officer Zettergren similarly described the early-morning car chase 

leading to defendant’s arrest.  R896-918.  When the officers got out of the 

police car on the 900 block of Washington, Zettergren stood next to the front 

passenger door of the car.  R903-04.  The Nissan backed up and then began 

rolling forward toward Zettergren, who feared for his safety and described 

the encounter as a “very intense” situation.  R904-07.  Zettergren then saw 

defendant turn the steering wheel to the left and drive the Nissan away from 

Zettergren, accelerating around the back of the police car.  R907-08.  With his 

attention focused on the Nissan, Zettergren heard, but did not see, Stapleton 

first shout for defendant to stop and then fire several shots.  R908-10, 912-13. 

The People presented the testimony of two other witnesses to the 

incident at the 900 block of Washington.  Michael McAbee, a truck driver, 

and his son, Jamie Kirk, were sleeping in bunks in McAbee’s truck, which 

was parked along the south side of Washington, as they planned to make a 

delivery to the Filtration Group when the business opened in the morning.  

R612-16, 643-44.  McAbee awoke to the sound of sirens, looked out the front 

of the truck, and saw police lights approaching in the truck’s side mirrors.  

R616-17.  Then defendant’s car passed the truck but was forced to stop and 

turn around because a train was crossing the road.  R617-18, 622-23.  A 
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police car pulled up at an angle next to defendant’s car, and two officers got 

out.  R623.  The police yelled for the driver to stop the car, but defendant did 

not obey the officers’ instructions.  R623-24, 626-28, 631.  McAbee saw the car 

moving forward and heard defendant shout at the police to “get out of the 

way”; he then heard several gunshots.  Id.  Afraid for his safety, McAbee took 

cover, and when he looked up again, defendant had driven away.  R631-32. 

Kirk testified that he awoke when he heard his father shout.  R644-45.  

From the top bunk, Kirk looked out the front window of the truck and saw 

defendant’s car stopped, facing away from the passing train and toward the 

police car a few feet away.  R646-47.  Kirk saw only one officer standing next 

to the trunk of the police car, yelling at defendant to stop.  R647-48.  

Defendant yelled back for the officer to get out of the way.  Id.  According to 

Kirk (and contrary to the testimony of the two officers and McAbee), the 

officer started firing his weapon at defendant’s car before the car started 

moving.  R649-50. 

The People also presented evidence that following his arrest, defendant 

had a blood alcohol content of .183, more than twice the legal limit.  R988-89. 

B. Defendant cross-examines Officers Stapleton and 
Zettergren. 

Defendant conducted lengthy cross-examinations of the police 

witnesses.  See R764-855, 877-86, 919-60.  Defendant sought to elicit evidence 

that Stapleton improperly used force against him and that the officers thus 

had a motive cover up Stapleton’s actions by shifting the blame to defendant.   
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Among other things, defendant pressed Stapleton about (1) exactly 

where he was positioned when firing his weapon and how close defendant’s 

Nissan came to hitting him, R764-67, 879-80, 882-83; (2) whether he learned 

defendant’s identity before the shooting (Stapleton denied that he did), R768-

72; (3) whether the video camera in his police car was functioning on the day 

of the incident (Stapleton testified that it was not), R775-82; (4) his firearms 

training, R784-85, 881-82; (5) whether he had intended to kill defendant 

(Stapleton denied such an intent) and whether firing at the moving vehicle 

would have been effective in stopping it (Stapleton testified that “It might 

not, but it might”), R785-91; (6) whether, after the shooting, he had been 

eager to apprehend defendant before any other officers (Stapleton denied any 

such motive), R791-99, 847-48;2 and (7) his use of the Taser and whether it 

had been necessary (Stapleton testified that he used the Taser in response to 

defendant’s efforts to resist arrest), R801-09, 831-42, 877-79. 

When questioning Zettergren, defendant asked about (1) whether the 

officers learned defendant’s identify before the shooting (Zettergren said he 

heard defendant’s name over the police radio), R926-28; (2) whether the 

camera in Stapleton’s squad car had been functioning, R930-31; (3) where 

                                            
2  Officer Christopher D’Arcy, who also participated in the chase, later 
testified and explained that Stapleton’s car had passed D’Arcy’s only after 
defendant nearly stopped at the intersection of Henderson and Cass.  R1101-
05.  The two other police vehicles slowed, then, after Stapleton had pulled up 
next to the other police cars, defendant sped off again, with Stapleton now 
leading the pursuit.  Id. 
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defendant’s car was facing and where Stapleton had been positioned prior to 

the shooting, R931-36; (4) Zettergren’s ability to observe Stapleton when 

Stapleton fired the gun and used the Taser (Zettergren testified his attention 

was focused on defendant at those times), R936-39; (5) whether he heard 

defendant’s car accelerate prior to the shooting (Zettergren said that he had), 

R939-40; (6) Stapleton’s use of the Taser, R941-44; (7) providing first aid to 

defendant after his arrest, R953-55; and (8) whether he would have been 

justified in firing his own weapon at defendant (Zettergren said he would 

have been so justified if he feared for his safety), R959-60. 

As relevant here, the trial court placed two limitations on defendant’s 

questioning of Stapleton and Zettergren.  First, before trial, the People filed a 

motion in limine to bar testimony that Stapleton and Zettergren did not 

prepare written police reports about the events of July 30, 2012, C156-57, 

explaining that Joliet Police Department regulations prohibited officers 

involved in a shooting from authoring a written report about the incident, 

C156-57; R338-40.  Both officers testified at an earlier hearing that because 

of “union and legal protection” and department policy, they were required to 

give a videotaped statement about the shooting and prohibited from 

preparing a written report.  R195-96, 207.   

In response, defendant said that he might want to ask the officers 

about the police department policy, which he argued was “ambiguous” 

because “Section 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 discusses how the officer who discharges the 

SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535



11 
 

weapon, the firearm, will complete the offense report . . . unless physically 

unable.”  R340-43.  But the People pointed out that defendant’s reference to 

Sections 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 appeared to be taken from a police memorandum 

prepared after the date of this offense and that discussed “recommended 

policy changes.”  R343-44.  Thus, it was unclear whether these regulations 

had ever been adopted, much less whether they were in effect in July 2012.  

Id. 

In ruling on the motion, the trial court observed that generally, the 

contents of a police report could not be used as substantive evidence at trial, 

but a witness might be asked to refresh his recollection with such a report.  

R344-45.  The court told defendant that if it was necessary to refresh the 

recollection of the police witnesses, the officers could testify that department 

policy prohibited them from creating a written report.  R346, 348.  Defendant 

would then be permitted to use the videotaped statements of Stapleton and 

Zettergren to refresh their recollections.  R346.   

The court denied defendant’s request to ask the officers about Section 

3.3.3 and 3.3.4 because the only evidence before the court was “sworn 

testimony that if the officer discharges his weapon, he’s prohibited from doing 

a written report.”  R346-47.  But the court left open the possibility of 

reconsidering its ruling if defendant could present evidence contradicting 

that testimony.  R347-51.  Defendant did not provide such evidence before 

trial.  And during trial, defendant did not attempt to refresh the officers’ 
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recollections; nor did he revisit the issue of questioning the officers about the 

department policy with respect to preparing written reports. 

Second, the trial court did not permit defendant to ask Stapleton 

whether he would have faced employment consequences if he had improperly 

used deadly force against defendant.  During a lengthy sidebar about a 

separate objection to defendant’s cross-examination, see R809-30, defendant 

said that he intended to argue to the jury that Officer Stapleton “would lose 

that job that he loves so much” if he used force improperly.  R820-21.  The 

People asked the court to bar such an argument.  R829-30.  The court told 

defendant that she believed the argument to be foreclosed by precedent, and 

defendant did not press the issue further and resumed his cross-examination 

of Stapleton.  R830-31. 

After the People rested their case, defendant raised the issue again, 

identified People v. Adams, 2012 IL 111168 (holding that a prosecutor could 

not vouch for the honesty of a police officer by arguing that the officer would 

be risking his career by testifying falsely), as the precedent to which the court 

had previously alluded, and requested permission to ask Stapleton “can you 

get fired if you use deadly force improperly.”  R1067-73.  The court denied 

defendant’s request, holding that Adams was analogous to this case and 

barred defendant from arguing that Stapleton had an incentive to lie in order 

to keep his job.  R1077-78.  Defendant did not make an offer of proof to show 

how Stapleton would have answered the question. 
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C. Defendant puts on his case. 

In defense, defendant called several police officers to testify about the 

events of July 30, 2012.  Officer D’Arcy described the pursuit of defendant’s 

car and the scene in Lockport when defendant was apprehended.  R1099-105, 

1118-128.  Defendant also called Sergeant Thomas Grutzius, who examined 

data taken from Stapleton’s Taser.  R1084-86.  The data showed that 

Stapleton had discharged the Taser twice in quick succession.  R1088-90.  A 

camera connected to the Taser also recorded some of the encounter with 

defendant, and the video was played for the jury.  R1091-95; Def. Exh. 15. 

D. Defendant argues in closing that the jury should find the 
police officers’ testimony incredible. 

In his closing argument, defendant urged the jury to credit Kirk’s 

testimony that Stapleton began firing his gun before defendant started 

driving forward.  R1233-59.  And defendant repeatedly returned to the 

themes developed in his cross-examination of the police officers.  He told the 

jury that “the whole case boils down to credibility,” and that “Officer 

Stapleton was out of control” on July 30, 2012.  R1258-59.  Counsel argued 

that Stapleton acted improperly in firing his weapon at defendant and that 

the officers had lied at trial to justify Stapleton’s conduct:   

If you believe the officers are not consistent with each other, do 
not find [defendant] guilty.  If you think Officer Stapleton was 
purposely abuseful [sic], don’t believe a word out of his mouth.  
If you think he was exaggerating here in Court, be offended, and 
then don’t believe him.  If you think he was acting to protect his 
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own interests, don’t believe him.  If you think he lied when he 
said all the shots came from the front, don’t believe him.  
 

R1259. 

E. The jury convicts defendant of aggravated assault, 
aggravated fleeing, and DUI and acquits him of attempt 
aggravated battery. 

The jury convicted defendant of aggravated assault, aggravated fleeing 

or attempting to elude a peace officer, and DUI.  R1307-08.  Defendant was 

acquitted of attempt aggravated battery.  Id. 

The trial court sentenced defendant to concurrent prison terms of four 

years for aggravated assault and three years for aggravated fleeing and 

eluding.  R1395-98; A20.  The court did not impose any additional 

punishment on the convictions for DUI and criminal damage to property, 

which were misdemeanors.  R1395-98; C443. 

IV. The Appellate Court Reverses Defendant’s Convictions. 

Defendant appealed, arguing, inter alia, that (1) the trial court violated 

his confrontation right and abused its discretion by barring him from asking 

Stapleton whether he would lose his job if he used force improperly; and 

(2) the trial court abused its discretion by barring him from asking about the 

policy that prevented Stapleton and Zettergren from writing police reports.  

A1, ¶ 1.  The appellate majority reversed defendant’s convictions, holding 

that the trial court violated defendant’s confrontation right when it barred 

him from questioning Stapleton about the potential loss of his job, and, in 

addition, that this error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, A10-
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13, ¶¶ 48-63, and that although defendant acknowledged that he had failed to 

preserve and thus forfeited the issue, the trial court committed plain error 

when it barred defendant from cross-examining Stapleton and Zettergren 

about the policy that prevented them from writing police reports, A13-15, ¶¶ 

67-70.3 

Justice Schmidt dissented.  He would have held that defendant 

forfeited the Confrontation Clause claim by failing to make an offer of proof 

as to what Stapleton’s testimony would have been, rendering defendant’s 

argument that Stapleton’s testimony would have shown bias or motive to 

testify falsely speculative and uncertain.  A16, ¶¶ 86-87 (Schmidt, J., 

dissenting).  The trial court did not err in preventing defendant from asking 

whether Stapleton could be fired for an alleged improper use of force, 

especially in light of the fact that the court otherwise permitted “extensive” 

cross-examination of Stapleton.  A16-18, ¶¶ 88, 91.  And even assuming an 

error occurred, it was harmless considering the strength of the People’s case.  

A16-17, ¶¶ 89-90.  Justice Schmidt would have held, further, that the trial 

                                            
3  In its initial opinion, the appellate court also held that the court had erred 
when replaying the surveillance video for the jury.  People v. Pacheco, 2019 IL 
App (3d) 150880, ¶¶ 38-71.  This Court subsequently entered a supervisory 
order, People v. Pacheco, No. 125191, 2020 WL 6882263 (Nov. 18, 2020), 
directing the appellate court to reconsider in light of People v. Hollahan, 2020 
IL 125091, which held that a trial court did not commit plain error by 
bringing the jury into court to replay certain video evidence during 
deliberations.  On remand, the appellate court held that, pursuant to 
Hollahan, no error occurred when the trial court replayed the surveillance 
video for the jury.  A10, ¶ 46.   
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court did not abuse its discretion in barring cross-examination regarding 

Stapleton’s and Zettergren’s failure to write police reports, A18, ¶ 94, and, in 

any event, the overwhelming evidence of defendant’s guilt meant that any 

error was harmless and did not warrant reversal of defendant’s convictions 

under the plain error doctrine, A18-19 ¶ 96. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

As explained more fully below, this Court reviews, de novo, whether 

defendant had a reasonable opportunity to explore a witness’s potential bias, 

as the Confrontation Clause requires.  People v. Blue, 205 Ill. 2d 1, 13 (2001); 

United States v. Hart, 995 F.3d 584, 589 (7th Cir. 2021).  Assuming such an 

opportunity, “the latitude permitted on cross-examination” is then reviewed 

for abuse of discretion.  People v. Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d 81, 130 (1998).  A trial 

court abuses its discretion if its decision “is arbitrary, fanciful, or 

unreasonable to the degree that no reasonable person would agree with it.”  

People v. McDonald, 2016 IL 118882, ¶ 32.  

When a criminal trial error is forfeited, the defendant has the burden 

to show that his forfeiture should be excused as plain error.  People v. 

Johnson, 238 Ill. 2d 478, 485 (2010) (citing People v. Herron, 215 Ill. 2d 167, 

187 (2005)).  The ultimate issue of whether a forfeited claim is reviewable as 

plain error is a question of law that is reviewed de novo.  Id. (citing People v. 

McLaurin, 235 Ill. 2d 478, 485 (2009)). 
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ARGUMENT 

The appellate court erred in finding a violation of defendant’s right to 

confront Stapleton because the trial court allowed defendant to inquire 

extensively into his purported motive to lie and to cover up an allegedly 

improper use of force.  Nor did the trial court abuse its discretion by 

preventing defendant from asking specifically about possible employment 

consequences of the incident.  Moreover, the trial court did not commit plain 

error when it barred defendant from asking about the department policy 

prohibiting officers involved in a shooting from submitting a written report.  

The court’s ruling was not an error at all, much less a clear or obvious one; 

nor was the evidence closely balanced.  In the alternative, even assuming the 

appellate court correctly reversed defendant’s aggravated assault conviction, 

this Court should reinstate his convictions for aggravated fleeing or 

attempting to elude a police officer and DUI.  Any potential error was 

necessarily harmless with respect to those convictions. 

I. Defendant Had Sufficient Opportunity to Cross-Examine the 
Officers, and the Trial Court Reasonably Exercised its 
Discretion in Limiting the Scope of the Questioning. 

The Sixth Amendment ensures a defendant’s right “to be confronted 

with the witnesses against him.”  U.S. Const. amend. VI.  The “essential 

purpose” of confrontation is the opportunity to cross-examine the 

government’s witnesses, including to demonstrate any potential bias, 

interest, or motive to testify falsely.  Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315-16 

(1974); accord People v. Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d 81, 134 (1998).  But the right to 
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cross-examination is not unlimited.  “[A] trial judge retains wide latitude to 

impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about 

harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness’ safety, or 

interrogation that is repetitive or of little relevance.”  Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d at 

134.  In short, “the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for 

effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in 

whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.”  Delaware v. 

Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985) (emphasis in original). 

This Court noted in People v. Blue, that a trial court’s discretion to 

limit cross-examination “arises only after the court has permitted sufficient 

cross-examination to satisfy the confrontation clause.”  205 Ill. 2d 1, 13 (2001) 

(emphasis added).  The Court did not define “sufficient cross-examination” in 

Blue, but it cited with approval Illinois Appellate Court cases holding that 

the clause is satisfied as long as the defendant has the opportunity to make 

the jury aware of potential areas of impeachment.  Id. (citing People v. 

Averhart, 311 Ill. App. 3d 492, 497 (1st Dist. 1999); People v. Rufus, 104 Ill. 

App. 3d 467, 473-74 (1st Dist. 1982)).  Similarly, federal courts hold that as 

long as the defendant has a “reasonable opportunity” to cross-examine, i.e. 

“the chance to present a motive to lie,” then a trial court’s limitations on 

cross-examination do not pose constitutional concerns.  United States v. Hart, 

995 F.3d 584, 589 (7th Cir. 2021); accord United States v. Rivera-Donate, 682 
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F.3d 120, 127 (1st Cir. 2012); United States v. Larson, 495 F.3d 1094, 1101-02 

(9th Cir. 2007).   

Thus, when determining whether a defendant’s Sixth Amendment 

right to confront witnesses was satisfied, this Court first considers, de novo, 

whether the defendant had a reasonable opportunity to explore a witness’s 

potential bias, Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 13; Hart, 995 F.3d at 589, by looking “‘not 

to what defendant has been prohibited from doing but to what he has been 

allowed to do,’” Rufus, 104 Ill. App. 3d at 473-74 (quoting People v. Hines, 94 

Ill. App. 3d 1041, 1048 (1st Dist. 1981)).  Assuming such an opportunity, “the 

latitude permitted on cross-examination” is then reviewed for abuse of 

discretion.  Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d at 130.  A trial court abuses its discretion if its 

decision “is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable to the degree that no 

reasonable person would agree with it.”  People v. McDonald, 2016 IL 118882, 

¶ 32.  

A. Defendant fails to establish a confrontation violation 
because he had sufficient opportunity to cross-examine 
Stapleton. 

Here, the trial court ensured defendant’s right to confrontation by 

permitting sufficient cross-examination of Officer Stapleton about a 

purported motive to testify falsely.  Defendant’s theory was that Stapleton 

used excessive force in firing his weapon at defendant’s car and then lied 

about the incident to shift blame to defendant.  In pursuit of this theory, 

defendant questioned Stapleton at length.  He asked about Stapleton’s 

memory of the events, questioning whether Stapleton’s account made sense 
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or was corroborated by the accounts of the other witnesses and the audio 

recording.  Defendant asked Stapleton whether he intended to kill defendant 

and pursued other lines of questioning to discern whether Stapleton harbored 

animus toward defendant.  For example, defendant attempted to portray 

Stapleton as eager to be the first officer to apprehend defendant and overly 

aggressive in using his Taser.  Defendant also asked about Stapleton’s 

firearms training and about the absence of a recording from the camera in 

Stapleton’s car.  The jury was thus made well aware of defendant’s theory 

that Stapleton had engaged in misconduct when he fired at defendant and 

therefore had a motive to lie and shift the blame for the incident to 

defendant.  Because defendant received an extensive opportunity to probe 

Stapleton’s purported motive to testify falsely through cross-examination, 

“any constitutional concerns vanish.”  Hart, 995 F.3d at 589; accord Averhart, 

311 Ill. App. 3d at 497 (“If the entire record shows that the jury has been 

made aware of adequate factors concerning relevant areas of impeachment of 

a witness, no constitutional question arises merely because defendant has 

been prohibited on cross-examination from pursuing other areas of inquiry.”). 

As a result, the appellate majority incorrectly concluded that barring 

defendant from asking Stapleton if he could be fired for his involvement in 

the shooting “prevented defendant from ‘engaging in otherwise appropriate 

cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of 

the witness.’” A11, ¶ 56 (quoting Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14).  The “form of bias” 
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that defendant sought to establish was Stapleton’s purported motive to shift 

blame for the shooting incident to defendant, and defendant had ample 

opportunity to explore that theory.  Thus, the trial court’s modest limitation 

did not violate defendant’s constitutional right to confront witnesses.   

B. The trial court reasonably barred defendant from asking 
Stapleton about potential employment consequences. 

Having found that defendant lacked a reasonable opportunity to 

explore Stapleton’s potential bias, and therefore that his confrontation right 

was violated, the appellate court did not reach the question whether the 

limitation that the trial court placed on defendant’s cross-examination of 

Stapleton was an abuse of discretion.  A10, ¶49.  It was not.  As explained, 

the court allowed defendant adequate opportunity to explore Stapleton’s 

potential bias.  That the court did not allow defendant to ask Stapleton 

whether he could be fired for an improper use of force, specifically, was not 

arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable.  On the contrary, the court prudently 

avoided a mini-trial about police disciplinary policies and whether Stapleton’s 

alleged misconduct, however it might be characterized, would warrant 

termination or some other employment consequence.  It was not an abuse of 

discretion to impose a modest limitation that prevented the trial from 

devolving into an exploration of these collateral issues.  See People v. Santos, 

211 Ill. 2d 395, 405 (2004) (trial court does not abuse its discretion by barring 

inquiry into collateral issues). 
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Moreover, just as a prosecutor may not “imply that a police officer has 

a greater reason to testify truthfully than any other witness with a different 

type of job,” Adams, 2012 IL 111168, ¶ 20, a defendant should not be able to 

make the inverse argument:  that police officers are inherently 

untrustworthy because of professional consequences attached to their office.  

As the dissenting justice below recognized, “If one could allow the type of 

examination requested by defendant, then the door is open to making 

unjustified allegations, simply through cross-examination, that every police 

officer is lying in court because he or she filed a false police report and now he 

or she must testify in accordance with that report to keep from being fired.”  

A16-17, ¶ 88.  Thus, as the dissent reasoned, the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in declining to open the door to this type of argument.  

C. Any error was harmless. 

In any event, even assuming the trial court erred in limiting 

defendant’s cross-examination of Officer Stapleton, the appellate court’s 

decision should be reversed because any error was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  See Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 13 (even if confrontation error 

occurred, conviction will not be reversed if challenged limitation was 

harmless beyond reasonable doubt); Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d at 134 (same).  This is 

so regardless of whether the Court concludes that defendant’s Confrontation 

Clause right was violated, but see supra Section I.A, or whether it concludes 

that there was no such violation but the trial court abused its discretion in 
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limiting the cross-examination of Stapleton, but see supra Section I.B.4  To 

determine whether a limitation on cross-examination is harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt, a reviewing court considers several factors, including (1) 

the importance of the witness’ testimony, (2) whether the testimony was 

cumulative, (3) the presence of corroborating or contradicting testimony, 

(4) the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and (5) the overall 

strength of the prosecution’s case.  Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14 (citing Delaware v. 

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986)). 

Here, the Court can be confident that even if defendant had been 

permitted to ask Officer Stapleton whether he could be fired for having used 

force improperly, the additional testimony would not have altered the jury’s 

verdict.  As discussed, defendant was permitted to extensively cross-examine 

Stapleton about his alleged motive to lie.  And in closing argument, 

defendant argued that the jury should not credit Stapleton’s testimony, 

urging the jury to find that the officer had been “out of control” and was now 

lying “to protect his own interests.”  R1233-59.  Yet, the jury apparently did 

                                            
4  This Court has described the harmless error standard differently, 
depending on whether the error is of constitutional dimension.  In re E.H., 
224 Ill. 2d 172, 180-81 (2006).  A constitutional error warrants reversal 
unless “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”  Id. (emphasis in original).  By 
contrast, a non-constitutional “evidentiary error is harmless where there is 
no reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted the defendant 
absent the error.”  Id. (emphasis in original; internal quotations omitted).  
Assuming the trial court committed an error here, it was harmless under 
either standard.  Accordingly, the People assume the more stringent beyond-
a-reasonable-doubt standard applies, and explain that this Court should 
reverse the decision below regardless of the nature of any error.   
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not believe defendant’s theory.  Asking Stapleton about the particulars of any 

collateral employment consequences for him if he were found to have acted 

improperly would not have changed that calculation.  And as the dissent 

pointed out, defendant never made an offer of proof about how Stapleton 

would have answered the question, so the appellate majority’s apparent 

assumption that the testimony would have been helpful to defendant is 

“speculative and uncertain.”  A16, ¶ 87. 

Moreover, as the dissent also recognized, “[t]the prosecution’s case for 

aggravated assault was strong.”  A17, ¶ 89.  Officer Stapleton testified that 

defendant did not stop his vehicle despite several orders to do so and then 

accelerated the vehicle toward Stapleton, placing Stapleton in fear for his life.  

Stapleton’s account was corroborated by Zettergren and McAbee, who 

testified that defendant’s car was moving when Stapleton began firing.  The 

audio recording confirmed that the officers had been shouting for defendant 

to “stop the car” before the gunshots were heard.  The surveillance video 

showed Stapleton retreating as defendant accelerated away.  And the 

photographs of the damage to defendant’s car indicated that Stapleton was 

directly in front the vehicle when he fired into the center of the windshield. 

Ultimately, then, defendant’s cross-examination of Stapleton was 

unpersuasive not because of any limitation placed on defendant’s 

questioning, but because the jury credited Stapleton, Zettergren, and 

McAbee, who testified consistently with each other and the video, audio, and 
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photographic evidence that Stapleton fired only after defendant’s car began 

driving toward him, and because the jury rejected Kirk’s testimony that 

Stapleton fired before defendant drove toward him.  Not only was Kirk’s 

testimony inconsistent with all other evidence, but a trier of fact could 

reasonably decline to credit it because Kirk admitted that his opportunity to 

observe the incident was limited:  Kirk testified that he didn’t wake up until 

after defendant’s car was pointed away from the train and towards 

Stapleton’s vehicle, and that he watched the events unfold while lying down 

on the bunk in his father’s truck. 

In sum, the evidence showing that defendant drove his car at 

Stapleton before Stapleton fired in an attempt to save his own life was 

strong, defendant had ample opportunity to cross-examine Stapleton about 

an alleged motive to lie, and thus any limitation on questions about the 

employment consequences of an improper use of force was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

II. It Was Not Plain Error for the Trial Court to Bar Defendant 
from Asking About the Joliet Police Department’s Policy 
Concerning Written Police Reports. 

The trial court’s decision to bar defendant from asking Officers 

Stapleton and Zettergren about the department policy that prevented them 

from preparing written police reports about the incident was not plain error, 

and the appellate court’s holding otherwise was incorrect.  Defendant 

conceded below that he forfeited any challenge to the trial court’s ruling on 

this point.  A14, ¶ 69.  That concession was correct:  The trial court granted 
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the People’s motion in limine seeking to bar defendant from asking about the 

policy, but the court also stated that it would reconsider its ruling if 

defendant presented evidence that Officers Stapleton and Zettergren had 

discretion to write reports under the circumstances at issue.  Defendant did 

not present such evidence; indeed, he never raised the issue again and 

omitted it from his written motion for a new trial, thus forfeiting it on appeal.  

C430-31.  See People v. Enoch, 122 Ill. 2d 176, 186 (1988) (to preserve issue 

for appeal defendant must “both object at trial and include the alleged error 

in a written posttrial motion”). 

Accordingly, the trial court’s ruling with respect to cross-examination 

about the department policy is reviewed for plain error.  The plain error 

doctrine authorizes reviewing courts to review forfeited errors in two limited 

circumstances:  (1) when a clear or obvious error has occurred and the 

evidence is so closely balanced that the error alone threatened to tip the 

scales of justice against the defendant, regardless of the seriousness of the 

error, or (2) when a clear or obvious error has occurred and the error is so 

serious that it affected the fairness of the defendant’s trial and challenged the 

integrity of the judicial process, regardless of the closeness of the evidence.  

People v. Moon, 2022 IL 125959, ¶¶ 19-20.  Under both prongs, the burden of 

persuasion remains with the defendant.  Id. 

Here, no clear or obvious error occurred, and thus the appellate court 

should have rejected defendant’s argument at the first step of the plain error 
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analysis.  Id. at ¶ 22.  Indeed, the trial court’s ruling was not even an abuse 

of discretion.  By asking Officers Stapleton and Zettergren about the 

department policy with respect to preparing written police reports, defendant 

apparently sought to suggest to the jury that the officers’ failure to prepare 

written reports regarding the incident showed that they had something to 

hide.  R345-47.  But the trial court found, as a factual matter, that at the 

time of defendant’s arrest on July 30, 2012, department policy provided that 

if an “officer discharges his weapon, he’s prohibited from doing a written 

report.”  R346-47.  The appellate court was entitled to reject this finding only 

if it was against the manifest weight of the evidence, People v. Slater, 228 Ill. 

2d 137, 149 (2008), which it was not.  Defendant presented no evidence to 

contradict the finding, even though the trial court expressly invited him to do 

so.  And because the undisputed evidence showed that, at the time of the 

incident, department policy prohibited the officers from preparing written 

reports, defendant’s proposed line of questioning could not have produced 

relevant testimony.  In other words, the fact that the officers followed the 

department policy in effect at the time, which prohibited them from 

preparing written reports, could not give rise to an inference, one way or the 

other, about the officers’ credibility.  See Ill. R. Evid. 401 (“’Relevant evidence’ 

means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is 

of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence.”).  And a trial court properly 
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exercises its discretion when it bars questions designed to elicit irrelevant 

evidence.  Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 13. 

The appellate majority’s conclusion otherwise appears to rest on two 

misconceptions about the record.  First, contrary to the trial court’s finding 

that, at the time of the incident, if an “officer discharge[d] his weapon, he 

[wa]s prohibited from doing a written report,” R346-47, the majority appears 

to have accepted defendant’s assertion prior to trial that department policy 

may have given the officers discretion, or even required them, to prepare 

written reports.  A13, ¶ 65 & n.2.  Based on this premise, the majority stated 

that “[t]he officers’ failure to write reports was relevant to their credibility as 

witnesses because it could support an inference that the officers sought to 

insulate themselves from potential scrutiny regarding their actions on the 

day of the incident.”  A14, ¶ 67.  Again, though, the trial court found that 

under department policy in effect at the time, Officers Stapleton and 

Zettergren were prohibited from writing written reports about the incident, 

and defendant presented no evidence otherwise.  The appellate majority’s 

holding thus rests on an incorrect assertion of fact.   

Second, the appellate majority reasoned that even if department policy 

prevented the officers from writing reports, “the policy itself could have 

supported an inference that the officers’ testimony lacked credibility,” 

because such a policy “indicates a lack of transparency and deprives 

defendants of the valuable impeachment tool that police reports provide.”  Id.  
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But the record does not support this reasoning, much less support a holding 

that the trial court clearly and obviously erred in concluding otherwise.  In 

lieu of written reports, department policy required Officers Stapleton and 

Zettergren to give videotaped statements about the incident, and those 

statements were available to defendant.  See R346 (trial court noting that 

defendant could make use of video statements at trial).  There is no reason to 

believe that the videotaped statements were any less effective for 

impeachment purposes than a written report would have been.   

And as the dissent observed, even assuming the department’s policy 

“was rooted in a desire to protect the department from civil liability, such a 

policy does not support an inference that in this particular case the 

department feared civil liability or that the officers were testifying 

untruthfully.”  A18, ¶ 94 (emphasis in original).  Defendant’s argument thus 

fails at the first step of the plain error analysis:  there was no clear and 

obvious error. 

In the appellate court below, defendant invoked only the first prong of 

the plain error rule, A14, ¶ 69, which required him to show not only that 

there was clear and obvious error, but also show that “the evidence was so 

closely balanced the error alone severely threatened to tip the scales of 

justice.”  People v. Sebby, 2017 IL 119445, ¶ 51.  Defendant cannot make this 

second showing, either, and the appellate court erred in concluding 

otherwise.   
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As discussed, the People’s proof of aggravated assault was strong.  See 

supra Section I.C.  Stapleton, Zettergren, and McAbee all testified that 

defendant drove his Nissan in Stapleton’s general direction before Stapleton 

fired his weapon.  The surveillance audio shows that the officers shouted for 

defendant to stop and defendant shouted for Stapleton to get out of his way.  

The video shows Stapleton retreating from the accelerating Nissan.  And the 

photograph of the damage to the Nissan shows Stapleton fired from directly 

in front of the car.  Given the strength of the evidence against defendant, 

there was no possibility that testimony about the department policy would 

“tip the scales of justice against” him, Sebby, 2017 IL 119445, ¶ 51, especially 

because, as explained, that evidence would not have supported an inference 

that Stapleton and Zettergren testified falsely. 

III. In the Alternative, the Court Should Reinstate Defendant’s 
Convictions for Aggravated Fleeing and DUI. 

Even if the Court affirms the appellate court’s judgment with respect 

to the aggravated assault conviction, it should reinstate defendant’s 

convictions for aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer and 

DUI.  As the appellate majority appeared to recognize, defendant challenged 

only his aggravated assault conviction.  See A12-13, ¶ 61 (concluding that 

constitutional error was not harmless because “the State’s case for 

aggravated assault was not overwhelming”); A14, ¶ 69 (“Defendant does not 

contend that the evidence was closely balanced as to the charges of 

aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer or DUI.”).  
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Nonetheless, the majority reversed all three convictions.  A15, ¶ 78.  This was 

error. 

The People’s evidence on the aggravated fleeing and DUI charges was 

both overwhelming and largely uncontested by defendant.  Aggravated 

fleeing requires proof that defendant “willfully fails or refuses to obey” a 

police signal, “increases his speed, extinguishes his lights, or otherwise flees 

or attempts to elude the officer.”  625 ILCS 5/11-204.  Defendant did not 

challenge the officers’ testimony that he led police on a lengthy car chase and 

disobeyed multiple stop signs and traffic signals.  To prove DUI, the People 

were required to show that defendant drove a vehicle with a blood alcohol 

concentration of .08 or more.  625 ILCS 5/11-501(a)(1).  The People’s evidence 

that defendant’s blood alcohol concentration was .183 after his arrest was 

similarly uncontested.  R988-89. 

Any error in limiting defendant’s cross-examination of Officers 

Stapleton and Zettergren was necessarily harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt with respect to the aggravated fleeing and DUI convictions.  

Defendant’s proposed cross-examination was focused solely on probing the 

truthfulness of the officers’ account of the aggravated assault.  And even if 

the jury had discounted the testimony of Stapleton and Zettergren in its 

entirety, other witnesses, including Officer D’Arcy, recounted the details of 

defendant’s attempt to drunkenly elude police.  And the testimony of these 

witnesses, as well as the evidence with respect to defendant’s blood alcohol 
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concentration, was, as explained, unrebutted.  Thus, this Court should 

reinstate defendant’s convictions for aggravated fleeing and DUI regardless 

of how it resolves the issues pertaining to defendant’s conviction for 

aggravated assault.  

CONCLUSION 

 This Court should reverse the judgment of the appellate court.  In the 

alternative, the Court should reinstate defendant’s convictions for aggravated 

fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer and DUI. 
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    OPINION 
 

¶ 1  Defendant, James A. Pacheco, pled guilty to criminal damage to property. Following a jury 
trial, defendant was convicted of aggravated assault, aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude 
a peace officer, and driving under the influence of alcohol (DUI). On appeal, defendant argues 
(1) the trial court erred in replaying video and audio recordings in the courtroom in the presence 
of the parties and trial judge rather than in the jury room during jury deliberations, (2) the trial 
court violated defendant’s right to confrontation by limiting his cross-examination of a police 
officer, (3) the trial court abused its discretion in granting the State’s motion in limine to bar 
defense counsel from questioning two police officers about their failure to write police reports, 
(4) the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument, and (5) defendant 
is entitled to monetary credit for time spent in presentence custody in the amount of $1410.  

¶ 2  In our original opinion, we reversed and remanded for a new trial. The lead opinion found 
that reversible error occurred where the trial court played video and audio recordings for the 
jury in the courtroom in the presence of the parties and judge during jury deliberations. The 
lead opinion further found that, while reversal was warranted on the jury deliberation issue 
alone, error also occurred where the trial court limited defendant’s cross-examination of a 
police officer and barred defense counsel from questioning two police officers on their failure 
to write police reports. The lead opinion also found that several of the prosecutor’s statements 
during closing arguments were improper. In a special concurrence, Justice Wright stated that 
she would not reach the jury deliberation issue or weigh in on the closing argument issue, as 
she believed that reversal was warranted on the issues of limiting defendant’s cross-
examination of a police officer and barring defense counsel from questioning officers on their 
failure to write police reports. Justice Schmidt dissented. 

¶ 3  In a supervisory order, our supreme court directed us to vacate our prior judgment and 
consider the effect of People v. Hollahan, 2020 IL 125091, on the issue of whether the trial 
court erred in replaying video and audio recordings in the courtroom in the presence of the 
parties and judge rather than in the jury room during deliberations and to determine if a 
different result is warranted. People v. Pacheco, No. 125191 (Ill. Nov. 18, 2020) (supervisory 
order). 

¶ 4  After reconsidering the matter, we find that no error occurred where the recordings were 
played for the jury in the courtroom rather than the jury room during deliberations. We reverse 
defendant’s convictions on other grounds and remand the matter for a new trial. 
 

¶ 5     I. BACKGROUND 
¶ 6  The State charged defendant with aggravated assault (720 ILCS 5/12-2(b)(4)(i), (c)(8) 

(West 2012)) in that he operated a motor vehicle in a manner that placed Adam Stapleton in 
reasonable apprehension of being struck by the vehicle. The State also charged defendant with 
attempted aggravated battery (id. §§ 8-4(a), 12-3.05(d)(4)(i)) in that he attempted to make 
physical contact of an insulting or provoking nature with Stapleton by driving a vehicle toward 
Stapleton. The indictment alleged defendant knew Stapleton to be a police officer engaged in 
the performance of his official duties during these offenses. 
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¶ 7  The State also charged defendant with aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a peace 
officer (625 ILCS 5/11-204.1(a)(4) (West 2012)), criminal damage to property (720 ILCS 
5/21-1(a)(1) (West 2012)), and two counts of DUI (625 ILCS 5/11-501(a)(1), (2) (West 2012)). 

¶ 8  Defendant filed a motion to suppress evidence, which the court ultimately denied. At the 
hearing on the motion to suppress, Stapleton testified that he did not write a police report in 
connection with the instant case. Stapleton stated: “It was explained to me the only thing that 
I was to do with anything with the case was to give a statement, a video and audiotaped 
statement, after the incident.” Stapleton said that it was customary for officers to write police 
reports unless there was an officer-involved shooting, which occurred in this case. Defense 
counsel asked Stapleton why that situation was different. Stapleton replied: “Because of the 
protection by our union, legal protection, things of that nature.” Stapleton said he believed it 
was also the police department’s policy. Officer Eric Zettergren also testified that he did not 
write a police report. Zettergren explained: “I believe it is the department’s policy that if you’re 
involved in an incident like this you just give a statement.” Defense counsel asked Zettergren 
if he was ordered by his supervisor not to write a report. Zettergren replied: “I don’t know if 
I’m specifically ordered not to, but that’s just the way it has been done.” 

¶ 9  The State filed a motion in limine to bar defendant from eliciting any testimony or evidence 
regarding the absence of police reports written by Stapleton and Zettergren. The motion alleged 
that the police department’s regulations prohibited Stapleton and Zettergren from writing 
reports involving the incident because Stapleton discharged a firearm during the incident. 

¶ 10  At a hearing on the motion in limine, the State noted that Stapleton and Zettergren testified 
at the suppression hearing that they had been prohibited from writing reports because Stapleton 
had discharged a firearm. Defendant argued that he should be permitted to cross-examine 
Stapleton and Zettergren about their failure to write police reports. Defense counsel argued 
that the police department policy manual was “ambiguous as to whether a police officer should 
make a report.” Defense counsel read a portion of the policy manual stating that an officer who 
discharges a firearm was to write a report unless physically unable. Defense counsel noted that 
another section of the manual said that the watch commander would designate a second officer 
other than the officer involved in the incident to complete a report. 

¶ 11  The court granted the motion in limine. The court reasoned that if it was the police 
department’s policy to preclude officers from writing reports in the event of a shooting, then 
the officers had no discretion as to whether they wrote reports. The court found that absent any 
discretion on the part of the officer, failing to write a report in this situation was not a bad act 
and did not indicate that the officer was biased. The court stated that the officers were not in a 
position to interpret the written regulations presented by defense counsel and stated that an 
officer probably would not even know that the document existed. The court indicated that it 
would reconsider its ruling if the parties could provide evidence that the officers were not told 
they could not write police reports. The court suggested that the parties call a police official 
and ask about the situation. Neither party made any further representations to the court on the 
matter. 

¶ 12  Defendant pled guilty to criminal damage to property. The matter proceeded to a jury trial 
on the remaining charges. 

¶ 13  At the trial, Ralph Gallup; his son, Jonathan Gallup; and their neighbor, Reginald Phillips, 
testified that they heard the sound of glass breaking at approximately 2:20 a.m. on July 30, 
2012. They observed a black car in the alley behind their residences and saw that defendant 
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was driving the car. Jonathan saw that the windows of Ralph’s truck were broken. Jonathan or 
Ralph called the police. Defendant drove his car to the end of the alley, which was a dead end. 
Ralph drove his truck into the middle of the alley to prevent defendant from leaving. Defendant 
exited his vehicle and looked around for a few minutes. Defendant then reentered his vehicle 
and drove through a yard onto Union Street. 

¶ 14  Stapleton testified that he was working with Zettergren at approximately 2:20 a.m. on the 
day of the incident. Stapleton was driving the squad car. They received a report of criminal 
damage to property committed by a white male driving a black Nissan. While the officers were 
driving to the scene of the complaint, they encountered a black Nissan that matched the 
description from the complaint. It was later determined that defendant was driving the vehicle. 
Stapleton activated his overhead lights and followed the vehicle. 

¶ 15  Defendant stopped his vehicle after Stapleton activated his overhead lights. The officers 
exited their squad car, and defendant drove away. The officers returned to the squad car and 
began pursuing defendant. Stapleton activated his siren and used the squad car’s public address 
system numerous times to tell defendant to stop his vehicle. Defendant continued driving at a 
high rate of speed and committed several traffic violations. The officers continued to follow 
defendant. 

¶ 16  Eventually, the roadway was blocked by a train near the Filtration Group, and defendant 
was unable to continue. Stapleton drove his squad car so that it was parallel with defendant’s 
stopped vehicle. Stapleton believed that defendant had given up running from the officers. He 
exited his squad car and told defendant to stop his car. Defendant said “what the f*** did you 
pull me over for” and that he did not do anything. Stapleton was standing at the back corner of 
the driver’s side of his squad car. Zettergren also exited the squad car, and Stapleton lost sight 
of him. 

¶ 17  Defendant began backing up his vehicle. Stapleton repeatedly told defendant to stop his 
vehicle. Defendant’s vehicle stopped and then started to roll forward as if defendant had taken 
his foot off the brake. Defendant’s vehicle then turned toward Stapleton and began to 
accelerate. Stapleton backed up and repeatedly ordered defendant to stop the vehicle. 
Defendant’s vehicle continued to accelerate toward Stapleton. Stapleton did not believe he had 
time to move out of the way and was afraid that he was going to be killed. Stapleton discharged 
his firearm in the direction of defendant and fired seven rounds. Stapleton knew he was 
standing in front of defendant’s vehicle when he discharged his firearm, but he did not 
remember if he was positioned in the center or to the left of the vehicle. After Stapleton 
discharged his firearm, he was able to move out of the way of defendant’s vehicle. Defendant 
then fled the scene at a much higher rate of speed than when he accelerated toward Stapleton. 
Stapleton and Zettergren reentered the squad car and continued pursuing defendant. 

¶ 18  The State introduced an audio recording of the encounter captured by surveillance 
equipment at the Filtration Group into evidence and played it for the jury. A voice could be 
heard yelling, “I didn’t do anything.” Another voice repeated “stop the car” several times. 
Seven gunshots could then be heard. The gunshots began approximately one second after the 
voice said “stop the car” for the last time. After that, a vehicle could be heard accelerating. 
Then, sirens and the sound of another vehicle accelerating could be heard. Defendant 
introduced a second audio recording of the incident into evidence, which captured the same 
events as the first recording. 
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¶ 19  The State also introduced a video recording of the encounter into evidence, which was also 
captured by surveillance equipment at the Filtration Group. The State played the video 
recording for the jury. The video recording contained some audio, but it was not as clear as the 
separate audio recordings. The image was grainy. In the video recording, a parked semitruck 
could be seen. A dark-colored vehicle drove past the semitruck. A squad car with its sirens and 
lights activated followed closely behind the dark-colored car. The two vehicles drove off the 
screen, and voices could be heard. Seven gunshots could then be heard in rapid succession. 
While the gunshots could be heard, the dark-colored vehicle drove back onto the screen and 
an individual could be seen running in front of the dark-colored vehicle. This individual was 
close to the dark-colored vehicle when he first appeared on the screen. The individual ran away 
from the vehicle. The gunshots began when the vehicle was off the screen and continued as 
the vehicle drove into the view of the camera. The vehicle drove away. Approximately 15 to 
20 seconds later, the squad car followed. Stapleton testified that he was the individual running 
in the video. 

¶ 20  The State asked Stapleton if he discharged his firearm while taking cover behind the trunk 
of his squad car, and Stapleton said no. Stapleton said that he was not standing close to his 
squad car when he discharged his firearm. Stapleton testified that he was standing in front of 
defendant’s vehicle the entire time he discharged his firearm. 

¶ 21  During cross-examination, defense counsel asked Stapleton: “Now, what caused you to fire 
is *** there was a sudden turn in the vehicle towards you and it accelerated at a high rate of 
speed. It was at that point in time you feared for your safety and fired your firearm, is that 
correct?” Stapleton replied, “I didn’t say a high rate of speed. I said the vehicle had accelerated 
towards me.” Defense counsel asked Stapleton if he was aiming for defendant when he was 
discharging his firearm at the vehicle. Stapleton said yes. Defense counsel asked Stapleton if 
he was trying to kill or wound defendant, and Stapleton said no. Stapleton said, “I was firing 
the rounds to stop the threat that was coming at me.” Defense counsel asked, “If you are firing 
the weapon to stop the car, what did you hope would happen by firing the weapon that would 
cause the car to stop?” Stapleton replied, “That it would either change directions or stop.” 
Stapleton acknowledged that if he had shot defendant in the head, defendant could have 
become unconscious and unable to control the vehicle. 

¶ 22  Stapleton testified that he and Zettergren pursued defendant after the shooting. Initially, 
there were two other squad cars in front of them, but Stapleton passed them so that he would 
lead the pursuit. Stapleton testified that defendant drove through a red light and failed to stop 
at a stop sign while driving through a residential area. At one point, Stapleton was driving 80 
miles per hour in pursuit of defendant. Eventually, defendant struck a traffic signal pole and 
stopped. Stapleton exited his squad car. 

¶ 23  Stapleton told defendant to open the door of his vehicle, but defendant did not comply. 
Stapleton wanted to remove defendant from the vehicle as quickly as possible so that he could 
not harm anyone else. Defendant’s vehicle was still running after it crashed. Stapleton broke 
the window of defendant’s vehicle and opened the door. Stapleton twice told defendant to exit 
the vehicle, but he refused. Stapleton twice tried to pull defendant out of the vehicle, but 
defendant resisted. Defendant was bleeding and said he had been shot. Stapleton deployed his 
taser, and the officers were able to remove defendant from the vehicle. Defendant was lying 
on the ground, but he was still fighting with the officers. Defendant refused to put his arms 
behind his back so the officers could place him in handcuffs. Defendant pulled his arms away 
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from the officers. Stapleton activated his taser a second time. Other officers then gave 
defendant medical attention. 

¶ 24  In the middle of defense counsel’s cross-examination of Stapleton, the parties had a 
discussion outside the presence of the jury. Defense counsel stated that he planned to ask 
Stapleton whether he would lose his job if he improperly used deadly force. Defense counsel 
argued that Stapleton’s potential fear of losing his job could provide a motive to testify falsely. 
The State argued that it would be improper for defense counsel to argue that Stapleton had 
“motive to testify falsely out of a desire or motivation to protect his job.” The court agreed, 
reasoning that, pursuant to the holding in People v. Adams, 2012 IL 111168, “[y]ou cannot tie 
perjury or sworn testimony to employment in a criminal case.”1  

¶ 25  Zettergren testified that he and Stapleton pursued defendant’s vehicle until it stopped where 
the train was blocking the road. Zettergren exited the squad car and went to the front passenger 
side of the squad car. Defendant began backing up his vehicle. Zettergren and Stapleton yelled 
at defendant to stop his vehicle. Defendant continued to back up his vehicle. Defendant then 
stopped his vehicle as it was directly facing Zettergren. The vehicle rolled forward and 
increased in speed. Zettergren did not know whether defendant had only removed his foot from 
the brake or whether defendant’s foot was on the gas pedal. Defendant turned the vehicle to 
the left toward the rear of the squad car, away from Zettergren. 

¶ 26  Zettergren vaguely knew Stapleton’s location at that time. He could hear Stapleton’s voice 
moving from the front of the squad car to the back. Stapleton was giving defendant commands 
to stop the vehicle. Zettergren saw defendant’s vehicle accelerate. Zettergren stated that there 
was a visible and audible increase in the speed of defendant’s vehicle. Stapleton gave more 
commands. Zettergren then heard shots being fired. He could not see Stapleton at that point. 
He then saw defendant’s vehicle flee the area. 

¶ 27  Michael McAbee, a semitruck driver, testified that he and his son, Jamie Kirk, were 
sleeping on bunks in McAbee’s semitruck in the early morning hours on the date of the 
incident. The truck was parked at the Filtration Group. They were waiting for the plant to open 
to drop off their freight. At approximately 2:45 a.m., McAbee heard sirens, which woke him 
up. He saw a black car drive up to train tracks where a train was parked. A squad car then 
passed his truck and stopped. The black car could not get around the train, and it turned around 
slowly, “like an old person.” When the black car turned around, the squad car pulled up at an 
angle to it. Two police officers exited the squad car. The officers yelled at the driver of the 
black car several times, telling him to stop his vehicle. The black car was facing the squad car 
at a 30-degree angle. One of the officers walked to the front of the squad car, and the other 
officer went to the back. 

¶ 28  The black car backed up and then started driving back in the direction from which it had 
come. The police officers were still yelling at the driver of the black car. They told him to “stop 
the f’ing car or they gonna shoot.” At one point, the driver of the black car yelled at the officers 
to get out of his way. The driver did not otherwise respond to the officers. One officer drew 
his gun and yelled at the driver to stop the vehicle. McAbee could see the officer “a little bit” 
at that point. The black car did not stop. Rather, “he acted as an old person; drove easy.” 

 1The court described the factual scenario presented in Adams, 2012 IL 111168, but did not identify 
the case by name. It was later established that Adams was the case the court was referring to. 
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McAbee heard gunshots and covered his face. After the gunshots stopped, McAbee lay down 
for a few minutes. When he looked up, both vehicles were gone. 

¶ 29  Kirk testified that he was 19 years old. In the early morning hours on the date of the 
incident, Kirk was sleeping on the top bunk of McAbee’s semitruck. He heard McAbee 
exclaim, and he woke up. He saw a black car in front of the semitruck and a squad car to the 
left of the truck. A train was blocking the road. The black car was facing away from the train 
toward the squad car. Kirk saw one police officer standing by the squad car on the driver’s side 
near the trunk. The officer told the man driving the black car “to stop the car or he’d effing 
shoot.” The officer was holding a gun. The State asked Kirk if he could hear the individual in 
the black car say anything. Kirk replied: “If I’m not mistaken, I heard him say to the cop to get 
the—out of his way, F-word.” Kirk testified that he saw the officer point his gun at the black 
car. The black car remained stationary and did not move until after the officer fired his gun. 
Kirk stated that it was possible that the black car was moving so slowly that he could not tell 
if it was moving. Kirk believed the officer fired six shots. The black car then drove away 
slowly. 

¶ 30  A firefighter paramedic testified that he responded to the scene of defendant’s motor 
vehicle collision. The paramedic transported defendant to the hospital in an ambulance. A 
phlebotomist testified that she drew defendant’s blood when he was taken to the hospital. The 
phlebotomist took the blood to the hospital’s laboratory for testing. The tests showed that 
defendant’s blood alcohol content was 0.183. 

¶ 31  Police officer Chris Delaney testified that he was a crime scene technician. Delaney 
photographed defendant’s vehicle after the incident. The photographs showed that there were 
six bullet holes in defendant’s windshield and one bullet hole on the hood of the vehicle. 
Delaney had placed wooden rods through a few of the bullet holes. In three of the photographs, 
the wooden rod appeared to be entering a bullet hole on the hood of the vehicle from the front. 
In one photograph, the wooden rod appeared to be entering the same bullet hole from the side. 
Delaney stated that he did not move the rod. Rather, the photographs looked different because 
they were taken from different vantage points. Delaney stated that the purpose of the wooden 
rods was to “show perspective of the holes.” The rods did not represent an exact trajectory of 
the bullets. Rather, it was “a guess as to where the bullet may have entered and its possible 
path.” Delaney was not a shooting reconstructionist. 

¶ 32  The State rested. Defense counsel asked the court to revisit its ruling on the issue of whether 
defense counsel could question Stapleton as to whether he believed the shooting could have a 
potential negative impact on his employment. Defense counsel stated that he wanted to recall 
Stapleton as a witness and ask this question. Defense counsel argued that he would be asking 
Stapleton if his actions on the day of the incident gave him a reason to lie, which was “just 
good ol‘ fashion cross examination.” Defense counsel argued that the instant case was 
distinguishable from Adams. The court upheld its ruling that it would not allow such 
questioning or argument. 

¶ 33  Police officer Christopher D’Arcy testified that he pursued defendant’s vehicle from the 
time of the shooting to the time the vehicle crashed into a traffic signal pole. D’Arcy’s 
maximum speed during the pursuit was 55 miles per hour. D’Arcy saw defendant’s vehicle 
crash. D’Arcy exited his squad car and stood 10 to 15 feet away from the scene of the crash 
with his canine. Other officers commanded defendant to exit the vehicle, but defendant did not 
comply. D’Arcy could not recall if defendant’s vehicle was running but stated that it appeared 
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to be inoperable. D’Arcy saw Stapleton deploy his taser. D’Arcy stated that defendant’s failure 
to comply with the officers’ verbal commands was the only behavior that required the use of 
the taser. After Stapleton deployed his taser, defendant exited the vehicle. Defendant displayed 
no unusual physical behavior that would require additional tasing.  

¶ 34  During closing argument, defense counsel argued that the evidence did not establish that 
defendant made a blatant attempt to hit Stapleton with his vehicle after an audible and visual 
acceleration of defendant’s vehicle. Defense counsel argued that although Stapleton testified 
that he was in front of defendant’s vehicle when he discharged his firearm, the photographs of 
defendant’s vehicle showed that the bullets entered from the side. Defense counsel pointed out 
several instances where he believed Stapleton’s testimony was contradicted by the testimony 
of other witnesses, particularly Officer D’Arcy. Defense counsel stated: 

 “Ladies and gentlemen, I think the whole case boils down to credibility, credibility 
and an understanding of human nature. If you believe that Officer Stapleton was out of 
control that day, do not believe him. If you believe the officers are not consistent with 
each other, do not find [defendant] guilty. If you think Officer Stapleton was purposely 
abuseful, don’t believe a word out of his mouth. If you think he was exaggerating here 
in Court, be offended, and then don’t believe him. If you think he was acting to protect 
his own interests, don’t believe him. If you think he lied when he said all the shots came 
from the front, don’t believe him. 
 And, ladies and gentlemen, if you don’t believe him, if you don’t believe the 
officers, some of the officers in this case, there is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt.” 

¶ 35  The State argued that Stapleton’s testimony was credible. The State contended that 
Stapleton’s actions on the day of the incident were motivated by a desire to do his job and to 
protect the community from defendant’s actions. 

¶ 36  During jury deliberations, the jury asked to have the video and audio recordings from the 
security cameras at the Filtration Group replayed. The jury also asked if there was any way to 
view the video recording in slow motion. The court asked the parties if they objected to 
replaying the recordings for the jury. The State said no. Defense counsel indicated that he did 
not object as long as the defense’s audio recording was played along with the State’s audio and 
video recordings. The court stated that it appeared that the jury was asking for all three 
recordings to be played. The State indicated that it was not possible to play the video recording 
in slow motion. The following exchange occurred between the court and the parties: 

 “THE COURT: *** All right. What happens now since this is—we do not have the 
equipment in a jury room, we do not have equipment in here to bring it in. The jury has 
to come out into this courtroom and view what is on each of those video and audios 
from the filtration group. We know which three we are talking about, correct? 
 [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes. 
 [ASSISTANT STATE’S ATTORNEY]: Yes. 
 THE COURT: No disagreement what we are talking about? 
 [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Correct. 
 [ASSISTANT STATE’S ATTORNEY]: Correct. 
 THE COURT: So everybody else other than the attorneys, [defendant], *** and 
Court staff should be removed from the courtroom, please, so there is no interruption 
or any suggestion from any interruption during deliberations. 
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 [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Fair enough, [Y]our [H]onor.” 
¶ 37  The court stated that there was to be no communication from the attorneys or defendant in 

the presence of the jury. The court asked if anyone had “any issue” before it brought in the 
jury. The prosecutor said that the State was ready. Defense counsel said, “Nothing from us, 
Judge.” 

¶ 38  The jury entered the courtroom. The court advised the jury that it would play the video and 
audio recordings in the courtroom, but it was not possible to play the video in slow motion. 
The court then played the video and audio recordings for the jury. The parties did not speak in 
the presence of the jury, and none of the jurors spoke while the recordings were played in the 
courtroom. 

¶ 39  The jury found defendant guilty of aggravated assault, aggravated fleeing or attempting to 
elude a peace officer, and DUI. The jury found defendant not guilty of attempted aggravated 
battery. 

¶ 40  The court sentenced defendant to four years’ imprisonment for aggravated assault and three 
years’ imprisonment for aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer, to be served 
concurrently. The court stated that it was entering “straight judgments of conviction” for 
criminal damage to property and DUI. The court stated that the sentences for criminal damage 
to property and DUI merged with the sentences for aggravated assault and aggravated fleeing 
or attempting to elude a peace officer. The court also imposed a fine in the amount of $2881. 
 

¶ 41     II. ANALYSIS 
¶ 42     A. Replaying Video and Audio Recordings in Open Court 

    During Jury Deliberations 
¶ 43  Defendant argues that error occurred where the court played the video and audio recordings 

of the encounter in the courtroom in the presence of the parties during jury deliberations rather 
than in the jury room. Defendant concedes that he forfeited this issue by failing to object to 
the court’s procedure for playing the video and audio recordings during jury deliberations and 
for failing to include the issue in a posttrial motion.  

¶ 44  Defendant requests that we review this issue under both prongs of the plain error doctrine. 
 “The plain error doctrine permits a reviewing court to consider unpreserved error 
when (1) a clear or obvious error occurred and the evidence is so closely balanced that 
the error alone threatened to tip the scales of justice against the defendant, regardless 
of the seriousness of the error, or (2) a clear or obvious error occurred and the error is 
so serious that it affected the fairness of the defendant’s trial and challenged the 
integrity of the judicial process, regardless of the closeness of the evidence.” People v. 
McDonald, 2016 IL 118882, ¶ 48. 

The first step in plain error analysis is determining whether an error occurred. Id. 
¶ 45  In Hollahan, our supreme court held that no error occurred where the court brought the 

jurors back into the courtroom after deliberations had commenced and allowed them to view a 
video in the presence of nonjurors. Hollahan, 2020 IL 125091, ¶ 27. The court found that 
deliberations were not taking place at the time the jurors viewed the video because the record 
did not indicate that anyone, including the jurors, spoke during the viewing of the video. Id. 
¶ 25. The Hollahan court reasoned that “ ‘jury deliberation’ is a collective process that 
necessarily entails communicative interchange amongst the members of the jury.” (Emphasis 
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in original.) Id. The court noted that the trial court instructed everyone in the courtroom not to 
say a word while the jury viewed the video. Id. 

¶ 46  We find that, pursuant to Hollahan, no error resulted from the procedure employed by the 
trial court in replaying the video and audio recordings for the jurors in the courtroom. The court 
instructed the attorneys and defendant not to speak in the presence of the jurors. Like in 
Hollahan, the record does not indicate that anyone, including the jurors, spoke while the jury 
was in the courtroom viewing and listening to the recordings. Accordingly, under the reasoning 
set forth in Hollahan, jury deliberations did not occur while the jury was in the courtroom in 
the presence of nonjurors. Thus, the procedure employed by the trial court did not chill or 
intrude on the secrecy of jury deliberations.  

¶ 47  As reversal is not warranted on the jury deliberation issue in light of our supreme court’s 
decision in Hollahan, we proceed to consider the other issues defendant has raised on appeal. 
 

¶ 48     B. Limiting Cross-Examination of Stapleton 
¶ 49  Defendant argues that the trial court erred in limiting defense counsel’s cross-examination 

of Stapleton. Specifically, defendant argues that the court erred in barring defense counsel from 
cross-examining Stapleton about the potential consequences of an unjustified shooting and 
from arguing that Stapleton might have been motivated to lie about the incident out of a desire 
to protect his job. Defendant contends that this limitation on his cross-examination of Stapleton 
violated his right to confront the witnesses against him under the United States Constitution 
and the Illinois Constitution. Alternatively, defendant argues that even if his constitutional 
right to confrontation was not violated, the court abused its discretion in limiting defendant’s 
cross-examination of Stapleton. We find that the trial court’s limitation on defense counsel’s 
cross-examination of Stapleton violated defendant’s right to confrontation, and accordingly, 
we do not reach defendant’s alternative argument. 
 

¶ 50     1. Standard of Review 
¶ 51  Initially, we find that defendant’s confrontation clause claim is subject to a de novo 

standard of review. See People v. Lovejoy, 235 Ill. 2d 97, 141-42 (2009) (“[D]efendant’s claim 
that his sixth amendment confrontation rights were violated involves a question of law, which 
we review de novo.”); People v. Connolly, 406 Ill. App. 3d 1022, 1027 (2011) (“A sixth 
amendment confrontation clause violation claim is a question of law that we review de novo.”). 

¶ 52  We reject the State’s contention that defendant’s confrontation claim is subject to an abuse 
of discretion standard of review. The State cites People v. Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d 81, 130 (1998), 
in support of its position. The Kliner court stated:  

 “A criminal defendant has a fundamental constitutional right to confront the 
witnesses against him, which includes the right to cross-examination. [Citations.] Any 
permissible matter which affects the witness’s credibility may be developed on cross-
examination. [Citation.] *** Nevertheless, the latitude permitted on cross-examination 
is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court, and a reviewing court should 
not interfere unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion resulting in manifest 
prejudice to the defendant.” Id. 
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Despite the Kliner court’s reference to the constitutional right of confrontation, we find that 
the court was setting forth the standard of review for a common-law evidentiary claim 
regarding restriction of cross-examination. 

¶ 53  Were we to interpret Kliner to mandate an abuse of discretion standard for confrontation 
claims involving limitations on cross-examination, it would be difficult to reconcile Kliner 
with the supreme court’s later decision in People v. Blue, 205 Ill. 2d 1 (2001). In Blue, the 
court stated:  

“We have noted repeatedly that the court enjoys discretion to impose reasonable limits 
on *** cross-examination to assuage concerns about harassment, prejudice, jury 
confusion, witness safety, or repetitive and irrelevant questioning [citation], but this 
discretionary authority arises only after the court has permitted sufficient cross-
examination to satisfy the confrontation clause [citation].” Id. at 13. 

The Blue court’s statement that a court’s discretionary authority to impose limitations on cross-
examination arises only after the court has permitted sufficient cross-examination to satisfy the 
confrontation clause indicates that a constitutional confrontation claim should not be reviewed 
for abuse of discretion. 
 

¶ 54     2. Right to Confrontation 
¶ 55  We find that the trial court violated defendant’s right to confrontation by barring defendant 

from questioning Stapleton regarding the potential negative consequences to his employment 
if the shooting were determined to be unjustified. “A defendant states a confrontation clause 
violation ‘by showing that he was prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-
examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of the witness.’ ” Id. at 
14 (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986)). A “defendant has the right 
to inquire into a witness’ bias, interest, or motive to testify falsely.” People v. Coleman, 206 
Ill. 2d 261, 278 (2002). “[T]he court should afford a defendant the widest latitude to establish 
the witness’ bias or hostile motivation.” Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14. 

¶ 56  Here, defense counsel indicated that he wished to cross-examine Stapleton as to whether 
Stapleton feared he would lose his job if it were determined that he improperly used lethal 
force when he shot defendant. This was a proper subject of cross-examination, as it went to 
Stapleton’s potential bias or motive to testify falsely. By barring defense counsel from pursuing 
this line of questioning, the court improperly prevented defendant from “ ‘engaging in 
otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the 
part of the witness.’ ” Id. (quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 680). 

¶ 57  Notably, the trial court’s reasoning for barring defense counsel from questioning Stapleton 
regarding his desire to protect his job was based entirely on the court’s misreading of the 
holding in Adams, 2012 IL 111168, ¶ 20. The court believed that Adams stood for the broad 
proposition that “[y]ou cannot tie perjury or sworn testimony to employment in a criminal 
case.” However, a careful reading of Adams shows that the holding was much narrower. 

¶ 58  In Adams, a police officer testified that he found a bag of cocaine in the defendant’s pocket 
when he was searching the defendant after arresting him. Id. ¶¶ 5-6. The defendant testified 
that there was no cocaine in his pocket; rather, when the officers were arresting him, they 
pointed to a plastic bag with a white substance lying on the ground and claimed it was his. Id. 
¶ 8. On rebuttal, another officer testified that he saw the first officer remove the cocaine from 
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the defendant’s pocket. Id. ¶ 12. The prosecutor argued during closing argument that the 
officers would not “ ‘risk[ ] their jobs *** over 0.8 grams of cocaine.’ ” Id. ¶ 16. The court 
held that “[t]he prosecutor’s comments *** were impermissible speculation, as no evidence 
was introduced at trial from which it could be inferred that the testifying officers would risk 
their careers if they testified falsely.” Id. ¶ 20. The court further reasoned that the prosecutor’s 
comments violated “the principle that ‘a prosecutor may not argue that a witness is more 
credible because of his status as a police officer.’ ” Id. (quoting People v. Clark, 186 Ill. App. 
3d 109, 115-16 (1989)). 

¶ 59  Here, unlike in Adams, defense counsel was not speculating during closing argument that 
Stapleton was motivated to testify falsely to protect his job where there was no such evidence 
at trial. Rather, defense counsel was trying to elicit evidence that Stapleton was motivated to 
testify falsely through cross-examination. Also, unlike in Adams, defense counsel’s potential 
argument that Stapleton had a motive to testify falsely to protect his job would not violate “the 
principle that ‘a prosecutor may not argue that a witness is more credible because of his status 
as a police officer.’ ” Id. (quoting Clark, 186 Ill. App. 3d at 115-16). Defense counsel was not 
trying to tie Stapleton’s credibility to his status as a police officer; rather, defense counsel 
sought to elicit evidence that Stapleton was motivated to testify falsely out of fear of negative 
consequences for specific actions he had taken. 

¶ 60  Having found that the court violated defendant’s right to confrontation in barring defense 
counsel from questioning Stapleton regarding a potential motive he may have had to testify 
falsely, we next consider whether this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Where a 
court denies a defendant the right of effective cross-examination under the confrontation 
clause, “ ‘[t]he correct inquiry is whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-
examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was 
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.’ ” Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14 (quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 
at 684). “In other words, the inquiry is ‘whether the defendant would have been convicted 
regardless of the error.’ ” People v. Mullins, 242 Ill. 2d 1, 23 (2011) (quoting People v. Dean, 
175 Ill. 2d 244, 259 (1997)). 

“ ‘Whether *** an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors, 
all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the 
witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, 
the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the 
witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, 
of course, the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.’ ” Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14 
(quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684). 

¶ 61  Applying the above factors to the instant case, we find that the court’s order barring defense 
counsel from cross-examining Stapleton regarding the potential consequences to his 
employment if the shooting were determined to be unjustified was not harmless beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Stapleton’s testimony that defendant accelerated his vehicle toward 
Stapleton prior to the shooting was crucial to the prosecution’s case for aggravated assault and 
was not cumulative. This testimony was not directly corroborated by other evidence at trial. 
The video recording did not show defendant’s and Stapleton’s locations or actions prior to the 
shooting. Rather, defendant’s vehicle and Stapleton came into view of the security camera only 
after the shooting commenced. While Zettergren testified that there was a visible and audible 
increase in the speed of defendant’s vehicle prior to the shooting, he could not see Stapleton at 
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that time. Also, no acceleration could be heard on the audio recording prior to the shooting. 
Furthermore, Stapleton’s testimony was contradicted by Kirk’s testimony that defendant’s 
vehicle remained stationary until after the shooting. Because Stapleton’s testimony that 
defendant accelerated his vehicle toward him was not corroborated by other evidence and was 
contradicted by Kirk’s testimony, the strength of the State’s case for aggravated assault was 
not overwhelming. 

¶ 62  Also, the cross-examination otherwise permitted by the court did not sufficiently allow 
defendant to present his theory that Stapleton had motivation to testify falsely in order to 
protect his employment. The court did not allow defense counsel to question Stapleton and 
Zettergren about their failure to write police reports in this case, which would have supported 
this theory. See infra ¶¶ 67-68. While the defense was generally able to challenge Stapleton’s 
credibility based on inconsistencies between his testimony and other evidence in the case, the 
defense was not able to present any motivation Stapleton may have had to testify falsely. 
Defense counsel stated during closing argument that the jurors should not believe Stapleton if 
they thought he was “acting to protect his own interests.” However, the court’s ruling limiting 
defense counsel’s cross-examination of Stapleton precluded the defense from presenting a 
theory as to what Stapleton’s interests were and why he might be motivated to protect his 
interests. The State, on the other hand, was able to argue extensively that Stapleton’s only 
motivation was to do his job and keep the community safe. 

¶ 63  Viewing all the above factors in totality, the court’s improper limitation of defense 
counsel’s cross-examination of Stapleton was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Reversal and remand for a new trial is warranted on this issue alone. However, we proceed to 
address the other issues defendant raises on appeal, as they are likely to recur at a new trial.  
 

¶ 64     C. Barring Defense Counsel From Questioning Officers About 
    Failure to Write Police Reports 

¶ 65  Defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in barring defense counsel from 
questioning Stapleton and Zettergren about their failure to write police reports regarding their 
encounter with defendant. Defendant acknowledges that the officers testified at the hearing on 
the motion to suppress that they were not allowed to write reports based on a policy of the 
police department that officers were not permitted to write reports if an officer discharged a 
firearm. However, defendant notes that defense counsel called this testimony into question by 
presenting a portion of the police department policy manual stating that an officer who 
discharges his or her weapon is to write a police report unless he or she is physically unable.2 
Defendant further argues that, even if it was the policy of the police department to prohibit 
officers involved in a shooting from writing police reports, the policy itself would have called 
the credibility of the officers’ testimony into question. Specifically, defendant contends that 

 2 Defense counsel noted at the hearing on the motion in limine that the policy manual was 
ambiguous in that one portion of the manual stated that an officer who discharged a firearm was to 
write a report unless physically unable and another portion stated that the watch commander would 
designate a different officer to write the report. While these two portions of the manual may have 
created an ambiguity as to whether Stapleton was permitted to write a report, it does not appear that 
either portion of the manual would have prohibited Zettergren from writing a report. 
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the jury could have inferred from the police department’s policy that the department advised 
its officers to “keep quiet” in order to insulate the department from civil liability. 

¶ 66  “The scope of a defendant’s cross-examination is limited to the subject of direct 
examination and ‘[a]ny permissible matter which affects the witness’s credibility.’ ” Blue, 205 
Ill. 2d at 13 (quoting Kliner, 185 Ill. 2d at 130). “[T]he court enjoys discretion to impose 
reasonable limits on such cross-examination to assuage concerns about harassment, prejudice, 
jury confusion, witness safety, or repetitive and irrelevant questioning ***.” Id. However, “that 
discretion must be exercised in such a way as to allow the defendants wide latitude in 
establishing bias, motive or interest by a witness.” People v. Adams, 129 Ill. App. 3d 202, 207-
08 (1984). “ ‘Generally, evidentiary motions, such as motions in limine, are directed to the trial 
court’s discretion, and reviewing courts will not disturb a trial court’s evidentiary ruling absent 
an abuse of discretion.’ ” People v. Way, 2017 IL 120023, ¶ 18 (quoting People v. Harvey, 211 
Ill. 2d 368, 392 (2004)). 

¶ 67  Here, the court abused its discretion in barring defense counsel from cross-examining 
Stapleton and Zettergren about their failure to write police reports. The officers’ failure to write 
reports was relevant to their credibility as witnesses because it could support an inference that 
the officers sought to insulate themselves from potential scrutiny regarding their actions on the 
day of the incident. Even if the officers had testified that department policy prevented them 
from writing police reports because Stapleton had discharged a firearm during the incident, the 
policy itself could have supported an inference that the officers’ testimony lacked credibility. 
A blanket policy that officers who discharge firearms are precluded from writing police reports 
indicates a lack of transparency and deprives defendants of the valuable impeachment tool that 
police reports provide. See People v. Williams, 240 Ill. App. 3d 505, 506 (1992) (recognizing 
that police reports may be used for impeachment). 

¶ 68  Stapleton’s and Zettergren’s testimony was important to the State’s case against defendant. 
Accordingly, precluding defense counsel from challenging their credibility based on their 
failure to write police reports was prejudicial to defendant, especially when taken in 
conjunction with the trial court’s ruling that defense counsel could not cross-examine Stapleton 
regarding the potential negative consequences to his employment if the shooting were 
determined to be unjustified. The tandem effect of these two rulings was to deprive defendant 
of a potential defense—namely, that the officers had motivation to testify falsely regarding 
their actions on the day of the incident to insulate themselves from the potential negative 
consequences if the shooting were determined to be unjustified. The defense should have been 
able to conduct the necessary cross-examination to present this theory to the jury. 

¶ 69  Defendant concedes that he failed to preserve this issue for review by failing to include the 
issue in a posttrial motion. However, defendant requests that we review this issue under the 
first prong of the plain error doctrine on the basis that the evidence was closely balanced as to 
the offense of aggravated assault. See McDonald, 2016 IL 118882, ¶ 48 (“The plain error 
doctrine permits a reviewing court to consider unpreserved error when *** a clear or obvious 
error occurred and the evidence is so closely balanced that the error alone threatened to tip the 
scales of justice against the defendant, regardless of the seriousness of the error ***.”). 
Defendant does not contend that the evidence was closely balanced as to the charges of 
aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer or DUI. 

¶ 70  We find that defendant’s forfeiture of this issue is excused because the evidence was 
closely balanced as it related to the charge of aggravated assault. That is, the evidence was 

A14
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535



closely balanced as to whether defendant operated his vehicle in a manner that placed Stapleton 
in reasonable apprehension of being struck by the vehicle. The State’s case for aggravated 
assault was based primarily on Stapleton’s testimony that defendant accelerated his vehicle 
toward Stapleton, which caused him to fear for his life and discharge his firearm. However, 
Stapleton’s testimony was contradicted by Kirk’s testimony that defendant’s vehicle remained 
stationary until after the shooting. Also, as we previously discussed, Stapleton’s testimony that 
defendant accelerated his vehicle toward Stapleton prior to the shooting was not directly 
corroborated by other evidence at trial. See supra ¶ 61. 
 

¶ 71     D. Prosecutorial Misconduct 
¶ 72  Defendant contends that the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during rebuttal 

closing argument. Specifically, defendant argues that the prosecutor “denigrated defense 
counsel, inflamed the passions of the jury, shifted the burden of proof, and urged the jury not 
to ‘trick’ themselves into thinking that there was any question as to whether or not [defendant] 
was guilty.” Defendant concedes that he failed to preserve this issue for review by failing to 
include the issue in a posttrial motion and requests that we review the issue under the plain 
error doctrine. 

¶ 73  Because we have found that reversal of defendant’s convictions is warranted on other 
grounds, we do not reach this issue. We note, however, that some of the challenged remarks 
were improper. For example, the prosecutor’s comment that defense counsel had a “fantasy” 
as to the law and the evidence improperly denigrated defense counsel. Also, the prosecutor’s 
remark that there was “not one piece of evidence *** that exonerate[d]” defendant was 
improper. Defendant was not required to present any exonerating evidence; it was the State’s 
burden to present sufficient evidence to prove defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 

¶ 74  We caution the State on remand to avoid such improper commentary during closing 
argument in the event of a new trial. Rather, the State’s argument should be limited to 
“comment[ing] on the evidence and all inferences reasonably yielded by the evidence.” People 
v. Blue, 189 Ill. 2d 99, 127 (2000). 
 

¶ 75     E. Presentence Monetary Credit 
¶ 76  Defendant argues that, pursuant to section 110-14(a) of the Code of Criminal Procedure of 

1963 (725 ILCS 5/110-14(a) (West 2012)), he is entitled to monetary custody credit for time 
spent in presentence custody in the amount of $1410 to be applied against the fine assessed by 
the court. The State concedes that defendant is entitled to such a credit. However, because we 
have reversed defendant’s convictions, these assessments are no longer in effect. Accordingly, 
we do not address the merits of this issue. 
 

¶ 77     III. CONCLUSION 
¶ 78  For the foregoing reasons, we reverse defendant’s convictions for aggravated assault, 

aggravated fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer, and DUI. We remand the matter for 
a new trial on these charges. Because defendant pled guilty to criminal damage to property 
prior to trial, the trial issues raised in this appeal do not affect that conviction. 
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¶ 79  Reversed and remanded.  
 

¶ 80  JUSTICE SCHMIDT, dissenting: 
¶ 81  I would find that none of the issues raised in this appeal resulted in reversible error. 

Accordingly, I respectfully dissent. 
 

¶ 82     A. Jury Deliberations 
¶ 83  I agree with the majority’s conclusion that, pursuant to Hollahan, 2020 IL 125091, no error 

occurred where the court played the video and audio recordings in the courtroom in the 
presence of the parties after jury deliberations had commenced. 
 

¶ 84     B. Limiting Cross-Examination of Stapleton 
¶ 85  I disagree with the majority’s holding that reversible error occurred when the court barred 

defense counsel from cross-examining Stapleton about the consequences of an unjustified 
shooting and from arguing that Stapleton may have been motivated to lie about the incident in 
order to protect his job. Defendant failed to preserve this claim by failing to make an offer of 
proof. Moreover, the court’s limitation of defense counsel’s cross-examination of Stapleton 
did not result in error. Even assuming error occurred, any error would be harmless.  

¶ 86  First, defense counsel failed to preserve this issue by failing to make an offer of proof as 
to what Stapleton’s testimony would have been. “When a trial court refuses evidence, no 
appealable issue remains unless a formal offer of proof is made.” People v. Peeples, 155 Ill. 
2d 422, 457 (1993). “The purpose of an offer of proof is to disclose to the trial judge and 
opposing counsel the nature of the offered evidence and to enable a reviewing court to 
determine whether exclusion of the evidence was proper.” People v. Andrews, 146 Ill. 2d 413, 
421 (1992). “Where it is not clear what a witness would say, or what his basis would be for 
saying it, the offer of proof must be considerably detailed and specific.” Peeples, 155 Ill. 2d at 
457. “However, an offer of proof is not required where it is apparent that the trial court clearly 
understood the nature and character of the evidence sought to be introduced, or where the 
question itself and the circumstances surrounding it show the purpose and materiality of the 
evidence.” Id. at 458. “The failure to make an adequate offer of proof results in a waiver of the 
issue on appeal.” Andrews, 146 Ill. 2d at 421. 

¶ 87  Here, defendant failed to make an offer of proof as to what Stapleton’s testimony would 
have been had defense counsel been permitted to cross-examine him regarding the 
consequences of an unjustified shooting and his desire to protect his job. It is unclear what 
Stapleton would have said if defense counsel had questioned him regarding these matters. 
Accordingly, any argument that Stapleton’s testimony would have shown bias or motive to 
testify falsely is speculative and uncertain. Thus, defendant was required to make an offer of 
proof, and he has forfeited this issue by failing to do so. See id. 

¶ 88  It seems clear that defendant’s intended cross-examination was for the purpose of 
suggesting to the jury, simply by asking argumentative questions, that Stapleton fired his 
weapon at defendant without justification and he was lying in court to save his job. No one 
testified that Stapleton’s discharge of his service weapon was unjustified. The issue was and is 
a red herring. If one could allow the type of examination requested by defendant, then the door 
is open to making unjustified allegations, simply through cross-examination, that every police 
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officer is lying in court because he or she filed a false police report and now he or she must 
testify in accordance with that report to keep from being fired. This with no other evidence that 
the report was false or evidence in the record that indicates that counsel could close this 
“impeachment.” What defense counsel suggests is a cross-examination that may go like this:  

 “Q. Officer, if you filed a false report, that would be the basis for your dismissal 
from the police force, correct?  
 A. If I did that, yes. 
 Q. And if you admitted here in court that your police report was intentionally false, 
that would pretty much seal your fate, wouldn’t it? 
 A. Yes, I guess it would. 
 [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Ah ha! So you’re lying here in court to protect your job, 
isn’t that right? 
 [PROSECUTOR]: Objection. 
 THE COURT: Sustained. 
 [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No further questions for this witness. 
  (As defense counsel bows to the jury.)” 

At that, defense counsel would have improperly suggested to the jury just by that cross-
examination that the police officer was lying in court and his police report was false. That is 
not the way we do things. Defense counsel in this case was attempting the same tactic with 
respect to Stapleton’s firing of his service weapon. The trial court did not err in disallowing 
this clearly improper tactic. 

¶ 89  Even assuming the court erred in limiting defense counsel’s cross-examination of 
Stapleton, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt upon application of the 
factors articulated in Blue, 205 Ill. 2d at 14. Whether Stapleton fired his weapon is irrelevant 
to any issue the jury was required to decide. It was and is a red herring. An officer may use 
deadly force to protect not only himself but also others, including the public in general, from 
the threat of imminent and serious harm. The prosecution’s case for aggravated assault was 
strong. Stapleton testified that he ordered defendant to stop his vehicle several times, but 
defendant did not stop. Stapleton testified that defendant then accelerated his vehicle toward 
Stapleton, causing Stapleton to fear for his life. At that point, Stapleton discharged his firearm 
in an attempt to stop defendant’s vehicle. However, whether he fired his weapon is irrelevant. 

¶ 90  The audio and video recordings of the encounter generally corroborated Stapleton’s 
testimony. In the audio recording, the officers repeatedly ordered defendant to stop the vehicle. 
The last time the officers ordered defendant to stop the vehicle was approximately one second 
before the gunshots could be heard. From this recording, an inference can be made that 
defendant had not stopped the vehicle at the time of the shooting. The video recording showed 
Stapleton running and the vehicle driving away as some of the gunshots were fired. 
Zettergren’s testimony that he saw and heard the vehicle accelerate prior to the shooting also 
partially corroborated Stapleton’s testimony. While Kirk testified that defendant’s vehicle did 
not begin moving until after Stapleton discharged his firearm, his testimony was inconsistent 
with the foregoing evidence. 

¶ 91  Also, the cross-examination otherwise permitted by the court was extensive. Defense 
counsel was able to cross-examine Stapleton about his motivation for shooting defendant. 
When Stapleton testified that he was not trying to kill defendant but was only trying to make 
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defendant stop his vehicle, defense counsel questioned Stapleton as to how shooting defendant 
would have caused the vehicle to stop. During closing argument, defense counsel argued that 
Stapleton’s testimony was not credible and told the jury not to believe Stapleton if they thought 
he was “out of control” or “acting to protect his own interests.” 
 

¶ 92     C. Barring Defense Counsel From Questioning Officers About 
    Failure to Write Police Reports 

¶ 93  The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the State’s motion in limine to bar 
defense counsel from questioning Stapleton and Zettergren about their failure to write police 
reports regarding their encounter with defendant. Stapleton and Zettergren had previously 
testified that the police department did not permit them to write reports in the event of an 
officer-involved shooting. Accordingly, the court granted the State’s motion in limine on the 
basis that the officers’ failure to write the reports did not show bias because the officers had 
no discretion as to whether they wrote reports. This ruling was within the court’s discretion. 
See id. at 13 (“[T]he court enjoys discretion to impose reasonable limits on such cross-
examination to assuage concerns about harassment, prejudice, jury confusion, witness safety, 
or repetitive and irrelevant questioning ***.”). 

¶ 94  I disagree with the majority’s finding that the police department’s policy prohibiting 
officers from writing reports when an officer discharges a firearm would itself have called into 
question the credibility of Stapleton’s and Zettergren’s testimony. Even if the police 
department’s general policy that officers involved in shootings were not to write police reports 
was rooted in a desire to protect the department from civil liability, such a policy does not 
support an inference that in this particular case the department feared civil liability or that the 
officers were testifying untruthfully. Such an inference would be remote and speculative. See 
People v. Rivera, 307 Ill. App. 3d 821, 833 (1999) (“To be admissible the evidence allegedly 
showing bias or motive must be positive and direct, not remote, speculative or uncertain.”). 

¶ 95  As the majority notes, defendant failed to preserve this issue and requests review under the 
first prong of the plain error doctrine. “Under the first prong [of plain error analysis], the 
defendant must show that the evidence was ‘so closely balanced that the error alone threatened 
to tip the scales of justice against the defendant, regardless of the seriousness of the error.’ ” 
People v. Johnson, 238 Ill. 2d 478, 486 (2010) (quoting People v. Piatkowski, 225 Ill. 2d 551, 
565 (2007)). Because I would find that the court did not err in granting the State’s motion 
in limine, it would be unnecessary to consider whether the first prong of the plain error doctrine 
applies to this issue. 

¶ 96  I disagree with the majority’s finding that the evidence was closely balanced as to the 
charge of aggravated assault. Stapleton testified that he ordered defendant to stop his vehicle 
several times, but defendant did not stop. Instead, defendant accelerated his vehicle in 
Stapleton’s direction, causing Stapleton to fear for his life. Stapleton then discharged his 
firearm in an attempt to stop defendant’s vehicle. The audio recording of the encounter 
corroborated Stapleton’s testimony that he repeatedly ordered defendant to stop the vehicle. 
The last time the officers ordered defendant to stop the vehicle was approximately one second 
before the gunshots could be heard, which indicates that defendant had not yet stopped his 
vehicle at that time. The video recording showed Stapleton running and the vehicle driving 
away as some of the gunshots were fired. Zettergren’s testimony that he saw and heard the 
vehicle accelerate prior to the shooting also partially corroborated Stapleton’s testimony. 
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McAbee testified that defendant drove his vehicle slowly and did not stop his vehicle when the 
officers commanded him to. McAbee was not watching defendant’s vehicle as the gunshots 
were being fired. While Kirk testified that defendant’s vehicle did not begin moving until after 
Stapleton discharged his firearm, his testimony was inconsistent with Stapleton’s testimony, 
Zettergren’s testimony, and the audio and video recordings. 
 

¶ 97     D. Prosecutorial Misconduct 
¶ 98  Defendant argues that the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during rebuttal 

closing argument by making comments that denigrated defense counsel, inflamed the passions 
of the jury, shifted the burden of proof, and urged the jurors not to trick themselves into 
thinking that there was any question as to whether defendant was guilty.  

¶ 99  I would find that the prosecutor erred in remarking that defense counsel had a “fantasy” 
about the law and the evidence. This comment improperly suggested that defense counsel 
fabricated a defense theory or attempted to free his client through trickery or deception. See 
People v. Kirchner, 194 Ill. 2d 502, 549 (2000). However, the other challenged remarks, when 
viewed in context, did not result in error.  

¶ 100  Defendant concedes that he failed to preserve this issue for appeal and requests review 
under both prongs of the plain error doctrine. See McDonald, 2016 IL 118882, ¶ 48. I would 
find that the prosecutor’s single improper comment did not warrant reversal under either prong. 
Contrary to defendant’s argument, the evidence regarding the offense of aggravated assault 
was not closely balanced. See supra ¶ 96. Also, defendant is not entitled to relief under the 
second prong of the plain error doctrine because the lone improper comment was not “so 
serious that it affected the fairness of [his] trial and challenged the integrity of the judicial 
process.” Piatkowski, 225 Ill. 2d at 565. 
 

¶ 101     E. Presentence Monetary Credit 
¶ 102  Regarding defendant’s claim that he was entitled to $1410 in presentence monetary credit 

to be applied against his fines pursuant to section 110-14(a) of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
of 1963 (725 ILCS 5/110-14(a) (West 2012)), I would accept the State’s confession of error 
and award the credit. 

A19
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535



127535 

3- t s-Mf gf 1 5 13 : 54: 01 WCCH C0000437 

IN TH[ CIRCUIT ,o~:7 OF __ w __ . _l .;_l _ , ouNTY. tlUNOIS 

L~ JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

PEOPLE OF THE STA TE or ILUNOIS 

Vs. 

J tvtt' ~ f7d. ,;/. lta 
Defendant 

JUDGMENT - SENTENCE TO ILUNOIS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

W HEREAS !ht abov.-nam• d def~dant has bttn ad)udsed guilty of tht offenses enumerated below; IT IS THO£FOIIE OADER£0 ~ tht defendlff! be and heAby Is S.llttft<ed 
to conr.nemcnt In the lllinots Otpanment of Conectloou for tlle ttrm of veers and months ,pe(lftcd for net, offense. 

COUNT OFFENSE DATE OF STATUTORY CITATION Cl.ASS SENTENCE MSR 

'1_ t/ 
~ .. .:3 _j_ Yrs. Li_ Mos. _/_Yrs. 

To run to an<! served at ?S"• 85",.,,tDm' pursu.int to ?30 ILCS S/3-6-3 

71[_ (tJt.<~1~p1-
to) co ntts :Z 

14~5" sf t · t tJ'(. I faX.'/J '-I 3 t) . I 
· ~ _L ___ Yrs. Mos. _L__ Yrs. 

and served a s"• as"· 1~ pursu.int to ?30 ILCS S/3-H 

Yn. _ _ Mos. __ Yrs. 
To run (concurrent with) (consecutively to) count(s), ___ .and served at 50,4, ?!>", IS", 1~ puouant to ?30 llCS 5/3-6-3 

This Court finds th;lt the defendant is: 

___ convicted of a clus _ ____ offense but sent~ced as a class X offender pursuant to 730 ILC:S S/S-4.S-9S!b) on count(sl ___ _ 

ctually served in custody (of 2 8" Z.. da~ as of the date of this order) 

~.,....=,µ...c::.....:~v..;~-.1.1,.L...:~r...__,;:..:::;µ..~:.i.-· The defendant Is also entitled to r~ive credit for the addltlonal time 
served in custody fro lftlnois Department of Corrections. 

The defendant remained In cont inuous custody from the date of thl5 order. 
The defendant did not remain In continuous custoctv from the date of this order (less ____ ,d~ys from a ~_!ease date of 
_ _______ to• surrender date ol 1 '-" 

I I 
• · I • 

_ _ _ The Court funtier finds that the conduct leading to conviction for the offenses enumtrated in counts _ ___ resulted in sreal bodily harm 
to the victim. (730 ILCS S/3·6-3(a}(2)(11i)). 1 

• I 

___ The Court further flnd5 that the defendant meets the elialblllty requirements for posslble placem~t in the lmpKt ln.carcer.ition Prop-am. (730 
ILCS S/S-4-l(a)). 

1 
: • 

_ _ _ The Court further finds that offense was committed as a result of the use of, abuse of. or addiction to alcohol or a controlled substance and 
recommends the defendant for pbcement in a substance abuse program. (?30 ILCS S/S-4-l!ali · ,.; 1 

l. · 

_ _ _ The defendant successfully completed a full-time (60-day or Jonce1) Pre-Tr ial Procrun __ EducationalNocatlon1I _ Substance Abu$e _ 
8e_havior Modification _ Life SklUs _ Re-Entry Planning - provided by t he county jail while held ln pre-trial detention prior to this commitment and Is 
eligible and shall be awarded additional sentence credit in accordance with 730 llC:S S/ 3-6-3(al(4) lor ___ total number of dayi of proeram 
participation, If not previously awarded. 

__ _,..,The defendant passed-the hiCh school level test for Gener.ii Education and Development (GED) on _____ while htl d in p re-trial 
detention prior to this commitment and is eligible to recelve Pre-Trtal GED ProSram Credit In accord~nce with 730 tlC:S S/3-6-3(a)(4.1). THEREFORE IT IS 
ORDERED that me defendant shall be awarded 60 day5 ol addltlonal sentence credit, If not previously awarded. 

>< IT IS FURTHER ORDERED the sentencels) Imp~-ontount(s) .::Z--tm;;,.~ .... nsecutive t o) the sentence Imposed In case 
number /'l ~F / 12.. In tt,e Circuit Court of ~. I . County. -=-~v 

Tht Cler// of the Court shall deliver a certlf~d cor,y of this order ro !ht sheri!f.,The Sheriff s 
the Department of Corrections which shaQ confine said defendant until e11pir.1tlon of th' ,~ 

This order Is ( ;>< effectlve lmmedia\ely) ,_ ___ suyed~I ~ 
/'l. / rz { ,,- ENTER:/ ___ -,#.1..--~----u.-------
,,v~( Pr» 1..v<. 10 tz/ttf, 

DATE: 
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NOTICE OF APPEAL 
APPEAL TAKEN FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN 

WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
APPEAL TAKEN TO THE APPELLATE COURT, THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT, ILLINOIS 

The People of the State of Illinois 

Plaintiffs-Appellees, 
-vs- Case No. 12 CF 1799 

James A Pacheco 
Defendant-Appellant 

---------------

D Joining Prior Appeal / [Z] Separate Appeal/ D Cross Appeal 
( Mark One) 

An appeal is taken from the Order of Judgment described below: 
I 
( ' ) ; .\ 

l ) 

( 1) Court to which appeal is taken is the Appellate Court. 
(2) Name of Appellant and address to which notices shall be sent. 

( 

l 
( ~:~ ·._ ;,< 

i: _ _ , r 1-...._...,,,-- · 

(3) 

NAME: James A Pacheco 
ADDRESS: Will County Adult Detention Facility 
Joliet, IL 60436 

95 S Chicago SI - . 

' ---------------------------------'~· 
Name and address of Appellant's Attorney on appeal. 
NAME: Peter A. Carusona, Deputy Defender 

Office of the State Appel late Defender 
Third Judicial District 
770 E. Etna Rd. 
Ottawa, Illinois 61350 

If Appellant is indigent and has no attorney, does he/she want one appointed? 
Yes 

'- I_ 
'·. 

( 4) Date of Judgment or Order:_9:.../-=18-'-'/2-=-0--'15'---------------------
(a) Sentencing Date:__:_:12=-'9=-12::.:0:...:1-=-s ______________________ _ 
(b) Motion for New Trial: _1.;.;.1/-'-'30;.;..;12:...:;0_1s.;.....;..M..:..ot:...:;io_n-=is-=d-=-e-'ni-'-'ed'------------------
(c) Motion to Vacate Guilty Plea: -'Nc.:.:/.;._;A ___________________ _ 

(d) Other: ________________________ _ 

Molion lo Re-Consider Sentence, Denied, 12/17/2015 
(5) Offense of which convicted: ______________________ _ 

Agg Assault Class 3 Felony, Agg Fleeing Class 4 Felony, Crim Damage 10 Property Class A Misd. DUI x 2 Class A Misd (both) 
(6) Sentence: ___________________________ _ 

4 Years Illinois Departmenl of Corrections Agg Assaull, 3 Yrs DOC (concurrenl) Agg Fleeing, Stralghl Judgmenl of Conviction Crim Damage and DUI i 2 

(7) If appeal is not from a conviction, nature of order appealed from: 

(8) If the appeal is from a judgment of a circuit court holding unconstitutional a statute of the 
United States or of this state, a copy of the court's findings made in compliance with 
Rule 18 shall be appended to the notice of appeal. 

State's Attorney 
Attorney General 

/') ~ /! '?,'/~/ jmk 
(Signed) --~.;:.:._ ___ --1-Y:,__· ___________ _ 

(May be signed by ippellant, attorney, or clerk of circuit court.) 
PAMELA J. McGUIRE 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

NOAPL 
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Volume 1 of 6   
 
R1   Report of Proceedings of August 7th, 2012 

Reading of charges 
 
R2  Waive formal reading 
 
R3  Bond set 
 
R7  Report of Proceedings of August 23rd, 

In custody no contact with Ralph Gallup 
 
R7  Report of Proceedings of August 28th, 2012 

Arraignment of the multiple-count bill of indictment 
 
R15  Report of Proceedings of August 30th, 2012 

Motion for bond reduction 
 
R22  Motion in its entirety denied 
 
R24  Court's own motion reassign case because of obvious conflict 
 
R28  Report of Proceedings of September 4th, 2012 

Defense Motion for substitution of judge 
 
R33  Report of Proceedings of September 25th, 2012 

Pre-trial 
 
R37  Report of Proceedings of October 11th, 2012 

Defense Motion for release of personal property 
Motion for bond reduction 

 
R42  Defense Argument on bond reduction 
 
R46  State's Argument on bond reduction 
 
R48  Defense Rebuttal Argument 
 
R51  Court will lower bond 
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R56  Report of Proceedings of October 19th, 2012 
Subpoenas 

 
R60   Report of Proceedings of October 25th, 2012 

Subpoena on a blood draw 
 
R63  Report of Proceedings of October 26th, 2012 

Supplemental discovery presented 
 
R68  Report of Proceedings of November 2nd, 2012 

State's Amended Petition to Revoke 
 
R74  Report of Proceedings of November 13th, 2012 

Discovery 
 
R78  Report of Proceedings of November 16th, 2012 

Defense Motion to reschedule trial date 
 
R80  Defense Argument on Motion to reschedule trial date 
 
R82  State's Argument on Motion to reschedule trial date 
 
R85  Defense Rebuttal on Argument 
 
R86  Trial is rescheduled by agreement 
 
R88  Notice of Transcript not forthcoming for January 15, 2013 
 
R89  Report of Proceedings of February 6th, 2013 

Subpoena on City of Joliet 
 
R96  Report of Proceedings of February 21, 2013 

Return of subpoena/Status and trial setting 
 
R103  Report of Proceedings of March 26th, 2013 

Status on discovery 
 
R107  Report of Proceedings of May 2nd, 2013 

Subpoena on City of Joliet 
 
R112  Report of Proceedings of June 5th, 2013 

Status on subpoena issues to city of Joliet 
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R116  Report of Proceedings of June 14th, 2013 
Motion to quash part of subpoena 

 
R126  Report of Proceedings of June 27th, 2013 

DVD from Joliet legal counsel/Joliet Police Department 
 
R131  Report of Proceedings of July 10th, 2013 

Subpoena and response to ruling 
 
R135  Report of Proceedings of August 15th, 2013 

Discovery Status 
 
R140  Report of Proceedings of October 2nd, 2013 

Continued Pretrial 
 
R144  Report of Proceedings of November 18th, 2013 

Reassignment 
 
R147  Report of Proceedings of November 18th, 2013 

Pretrial and status continued 
 
R150  Report of Proceedings of January 13th, 2014 

Discovery Status 
 
R154  Report of Proceedings of February 4th, 2014 

Discovery Status and witnesses 
 
R158  Report of Proceedings of March 12th, 2014 

Trial setting 
 
R162  Report of Proceedings of March 24th, 2014 

Response to State Subpoena 
 
R165  Report of Proceedings of April 22nd, 2014 

Continuance 
 
R169  Report of Proceedings of May 6th, 2014 

Pre-Trial Motions/Answers for discovery &Motion to Suppress 
 
R176  Report of Proceedings of June 30th, 2014 

Hearing on Motion to Suppress 
 
R179  Defense Opening Statement on Motion to Suppress 
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R180  State's Opening Statement on Motion to Suppress 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Adam Stapleton  R181  R190  R194 
Off. Eric Zettergren  R199  R208  R212 
 
R213  Defense rest/State rests 

Defense Argument 
 
R218  State's Argument 
 
R222  Defense Rebuttal Argument 
 
R228  Motion to quash the stop of the Nissan vehicle is denied 
 
R236  Report of Proceedings of October lst, 2014 

Independent witnesses presented 
 
R237  Defense Motion for certificate of out-of state witnesses 
 
R241  Report of Proceedings of October 8th, 2014 

Out-of-state certificate served upon Jamie Kirk 
 
R247  Report of Proceedings of October 9th, 2014 

Out-of-state certificate 
 
Volume 2 of 6 
 
R251   
 
R252  Report of Proceedings of November 3rd, 2014 

Witness Ralph Gallup/Subpoena 
 
R259  Report of Proceedings of December 9th, 2014 

Status on witness 
 
R264   Report of Proceedings of January 6th, 2015 

Out-of-State witnesses 
 
R271  Report of Proceedings of January 13th, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses served 
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R281  Report of Proceedings of February 25th, 2015 
Continuance on out-of-state witnesses 

 
R285  Report of Proceedings of March 12th, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses 
 
R290  Report of Proceedings of March 13th, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses 
 
R294  Report of Proceedings of June 1st, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses 
 
R298  Report of Proceedings of June 23, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses 
 
R304  Report of Proceedings of July 13th, 2015 

Out-of-state witnesses 
 
R310  Report of Proceedings of September 11th, 2015 

State's Motion/Motion to bar Joliet Police Deadly Force Panel   
memorandum and Motion in limine to bar absence of police 
report 

 
R316  Report of Proceedings of September 14th, 2015 

Motion in limine 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Off. Chris Gombost  R317   
 
R324  State rest 

Defense Motion for a directed finding as to no probable cause in the 
matter 

 
R326  Motion for directed finding is denied 
 
R330  Report of Proceedings of September 14th, 2015 

Witness from out of State present Jamie Kirk 
 
R338  State's Argument on Motion in limine 
 
R340  Defense Argument on Motion in limine 
 
R378  Petit Venire is present 
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Volume 3 of 6  
 
R501  Voir Dire Continues 
 
R533  Voir Dire done 
 
R539  Report of Proceedings of September 15th, 2015 

Jury Trial 
 
R543  Reading of charges (Plea of guilty on property damage) 
 
R549  Plea of guilty accepted by the court after reading defendant's rights 
 
R550  Defense written motion to admit and your memorandum 
 
R552  Defense argument on memorandum 
 
R560  State's argument on memorandum 
 
R569  Jury present/court addresses the jury 
 
R572  State's Opening Statement 
 
R580  Defense Opening Statement 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Jonathan Gallup  R592     
Reginald Phillips  R598 
Ralph Gallup    R604 
 
R607  Jury taken out 
 
R608  Review photographs that will be presented to the jury 
 
R610  Jury present 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Michael McAbee  R612 
 
R637  Report of Proceedings of September 15th, 2015 (afternoon session) 

Jury trial 
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Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Jamie Kirk   R643  R659  R667  R672 
        R676 
Off. Adam Stapleton R692 
 
R732  Audio tape played 
 
R747  Report of Proceedings of September 16th, 2015 

Jury Trial 
 
Volume 4 of 6 
R751 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Off. Adam Stapleton R754  R764 
Continued 
 
R809  Witnesses exits courtroom to review objection 

Court views arguments from both sides 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Off. Adam Stapleton   R831 
 
R859  Report of Proceedings of September 16th, 2015 (Afternoon session) 

Jury Trial 
 
R860  Taser video and whether it serves as impeachment of or is inconsistent 

with the testimony of Officer Stapleton 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Off. Adam Stapleton     R862  R877 
        R885  R886 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Eric Zettergren  R896  R919  R960 
Mark Futterer  R965  R968 
 
R975  Report of Proceedings of September 17th, 2015 

Jury Trial 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Jennifer Pietrzak  R982  R989  R991  R993 
Robert Desiderio  R994  R996 
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Volume 5 of 6 
R1001 
 
R1001  Jury not present 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Robert Desiderio    R1002  R1004  R1005 
Chris Delaney  R1007  R1029  R1051  R1052 
 
R1053  Review of exhibits 
 
R1061  State rests 
 
R1064  Report of Proceedings of September 17th, 2015 (Afternoon Session) 

Jury Trial 
 
R1066  Defense Motion for directed Verdict 

Defense Argument 
Motion denied 
 

Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Thomas Grutzius  R1082  R1096 
Christopher D’Arcy  R1098  R1137  R1144 
Paul Rodriguez  R1151 
 
R1161  Report of Proceedings of September 18th, 2015 

Jury Trial 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Christopher Botzum R1164  R1173 
 
R1174  State's objection to witness 
 
R1175  State's basis 
 
R1175  Defense Response to objection 
 
R1180  DVD played in open court 
 
R1182  Defendant will not be taking the oath and testifying 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Christopher Botzum R1186  R1190  R1191 
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R1193  Defense rests 
Defense renew motion for directed verdict 
Defense no argument 
State no argument 
Motion denied 

 
R1197  Court gives instructions to jury 
  
R1199  Review of jury instructions 
 
R1210  State's Closing Argument 
 
R1224  Video played in open court 
 
R1233  Defense Closing Argument 
 
Volume 6 of 6 
R1251 
 
R1251  Defense Closing Argument continues 
 
R1255  Court gives jury instructions 

Defense Closing argument continues 
 
R1260  State's Rebuttal Argument 
 
R1284  Court advises jury that arguments are completed and gives 

instructions to the law. 
 
R1297  Jury is sent for deliberation 
 
R1300  Report of Proceedings of September 18th, 2015 (Afternoon session) 

Jury Trial 
 
R1305 Jury would like to see video and audio from the filtration group 

replayed 
 
R1307  Verdict 
 
R1310  Court orders Pre-sentence investigation report 
 
R1311  State's Motion to revoke defendant's bond 
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R1312  Bond is revoked 
 
R1316  Report of Proceedings of September 23, 2015 

State's Amended Petition/Post-Trial Motions 
 
R1321  Report of Proceedings of November 30th, 2015 

Hearing on a Motion for relative to errors at trial/Sentencing 
 
R1330  Motion for new trial denied 
 
R1335  State's Second amended petition to revoke probation is granted 
 
Witness   DX  CX  RDX  RCX 
Charles Pacheco  R1339  R1347 
Tara Pacheco  R1349  R1353 
Tyler Pacheco  R1356 
Elizabeth Pacheco  R1361 
Larry Dean Bank  R1364  R1369 
 
R1375  Defendant testimony 
 
R1377  State's sentencing argument 
 
R1381  Defense sentencing argument 
 
R1387  Judge will issue decision 
 
R1390  Report of Proceedings of December 9th, 2015 

Sentencing 
 
R1395  Sentence 
 
R1400  Judge advises defendant about Notice of Appeal 
 
R1403  Report of Proceedings of December 17th, 2015 

Affidavit/Motion to reconsider sentence 
 
R1405  Defense Argument on motion to reconsider sentence 
 
R1412  State's Argument on motion to reconsider sentence 
 
R1413  Motion denied 

Defense request to appoint appellate defender 

A31
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535



3-15-0880 

1 Table of Contents 

A32 

STATE OF ILLINOIS UNITED STATES OF AMERICA COUNTY OF WILL 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CI RCUIT 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF lLU NOTS 

vs. 
JAMES A. PACHECO 

PAGE NUMBER 

C000000 I - CO00000 l 

C0000002 - C0000007 

C0000008 - C0000008 

C0000009 - C0000009 

C00000 1 0 - C00000 16 

cooooo 17 - cooooo 17 

C00000 I 8 - C00000 19 

C0000020 - C000002 l 

C0000022 - C0000022 

C0000023 - C0000024 

C0000025 - C0000026 

C0000027 - C0000028 

C0000029 - C0000029 

C0000030 - C0000030 

C000003 l - C000003 J 

C0000032 - C0000033 

C0000034 - C0000034 

C0000035 - C0000037 

Case Number 20 12CF00 l799 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

FILE DATE DESCRIPTION 

PLACITA 

08/07/2012 COMPLAINT - J IJ AGG ASSAULT HIIV AT. .. 

08/07/2012 MOTION FOR RELEASE OF PERSONAL PROPERT ... 

08/07/2012 MITTIMUS FOR FAILURE TO GIVE BAIL FILE ... 

08/23/2012 BILL OF INDICTMENT 

08/29/2012 NOTICE OF MOTION (AMENDED) PROOF OF ... 

08/29/2012 MOTION FOR BOND REDUCTION (AMENDED) A ... 

08/29/2012 SUPPORTJNG DOCUMENT(S) EXHIBIT(S)A (AM ... 

08/30/20 I 2 NOTICE OF MOTION PROOF OF SERVICE FILE .. . 

08/30/2012 MOTION FOR SUBSTITUTION OF JUDGE FILED .. . 

09/13/2012 UST OF WITNESSES 

09/13/2012 NOTIFICATION OF REPORTS SUMMARIZING WI... 

09/13/2012 STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT 

09/13/2012 PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

09/13/2012 RECORD OF CONVICTION OF THE DEFENDANT 

09/ 13/2012 GRAND JURY MINUTES 

09/25/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

10/04/2012 SUPPLEMENTAL PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

PAMELA J MCGUIRE, CLERK OF THE 12th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT © 
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM JO LIET, fLLlNOIS 60432 



A33
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

127535
II 

3-15-0880 

.. Table of Contents 

~GQ00038 - C0000038 10/05/2012 NOTICE OF FILING PROOF OF SERVICE FILE ... 
' 

C0000039 - C0000041 I 0/05/2013 PETITION TO RESCIND STATUTORY SUMMARY .. . 

C0000042 - C0000042 10/05/2012 NOTICE OF MOTION PROOF OF SERVICE FILE .. . 

C0000043 - C0000044 10/05/2012 MOTION TO RELEASE PERSONAL PROPERTY FI.. . 

C0000045 - C0000045 10/05/2012 NOTICE OF MOTION PROOF OF SERVICE FIL. .. 

C0000046 - C000004 7 10/05/2012 MOTION FOR BOND REDUCTION ALTERNATIVEL. .. 

C0000048 - C0000049 10/05/2012 EXHIBIT(S)A FILED BY ATTY D RIPPY 

C0000050 - C0000050 10/ 11/2012 NOTICE OF FILING OF SUBPOENAES 

C000005 I - C000005 l 10/11/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000052 - C0000052 10/ 11 /2012 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000053 - C0000053 10/ 11/2012 MITTIMUS FOR FAIL URE TO GIVE BAIL FILE ... 

C0000054 - C0000054 10/ 11 /2012 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000055 - C0000055 10/ 12/2012 NOTICE OF FILING OF SUBPOENAES 

C0000056 - C0000056 10/26/2012 NOTICE OF FILING PROOF OF SERVICE 

C0000057 - C0000058 10/26/2012 ANSWER TO PEOPLE S MOTION FOR PRETRIAL .. . 

C0000059 - C0000059 10/26/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000060 - C000006 l 10/26/2012 SUPPLEMENTAL NOTIFICATION OF REPORTS S ... 

C0000062 - C0000062 10/26/2012 SEE ORDER SIGNED FOR CONTACT VISIT 

C0000063 - C0000063 10/30/2012 NOTICE 

C0000064 - C0000066 l0/30/2012 PETITION PEOPLES PETITION FOR ISSUANC ... 

C000006 7 - C0000069 l 0/30/2012 PETITION PEOPLES PETITION FOR ISSUAN ... 

C0000070 - C0000070 11 /02/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C000007 l - C0000072 I l/02/2012 CERTIFICATE FOR ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENA 0 .. . 

C0000073 - C0000074 11 /02/2012 CERTIFICATE FOR OUT OF STATE WITNESS J.. . 

C0000075 - C0000076 11 /06/2012 SUPPLEMENT AL LIST OF WITNESSES 

C0000077 - C0000077 11 /13/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000078 - C0000078 11/ I 5/2012 NOTICE OF MOTION (EMERGENCY) PROOF 0 .. . 

C0000079 - C000008 l 11/15/2012 MOTION TO CONTINUE (EMEERGENCY) 

C0000082 - C0000082 11 /16/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000083 - C0000083 11/26/2012 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000084 - C0000084 11/30/2012 SUPPLEMENT AL LIST OF WITNESSES 

C0000085 - C0000085 11/30/2012 SUPPLEMENTAL NOTIFICATION OF REPORTS S .. . 

C0000086 - C0000087 11/30/2012 SUPPLEMENTAL RECORD OF CONVICTION OFT ... 

C0000088 - C0000088 01/15/2013 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000089 - C0000090 01/16/2013 ILLINOIS STATE POLICE COURT DISPOSITIO ... 

C000009 l - C000009 l 0 l/l 7 /2013 NOTICE OF SUBPOENA 

C0000092 - C0000094 0l/17/2013 SUPPORTING DOCUMENT(S) EXHIBIT(S) 

C0000095 - C0000095 02/04/2013 BOND POSTED ON 12 CF 172 

C0000096 - C0000096 02/ 13/2013 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

PAMELA J MCGUIRE, CLERK OF THE 12th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT © 
JOLIET, ILLINOIS 60432 

II - --~.... '"'"""" 1 " '•/0. \Vll ,l /\ PPEAL. fJ5 /V t20 lh UX:-12:J(i t\M DOCUMENT /\CCEPTED ON: 05:23:20 I (1 09:5(1:49 J\M 



A34
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

t 

3-15-0880 
Tahlc of Contents 

C0000097 - C0000097 06/04/2013 NOTICE OF FILING PROOF OF SERVICE 

C0000098 - C0000099 06/04/2013 MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA FILED BY JOLI ... 

C0000 l 00 - C0000 l 0 I 06/04/2013 SUPPORTING DOCUMENT(S) EXHIBIT(S) - EX ... 

C0000 l 02 - C0000 102 06/05/2013 NOTICE OF FILING 

C0000 l 03 - C0000 l 06 06/05/2013 MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA 

C0000 l 07 - C0000 107 06/05/2013 LETTER-JOHN WISE 

C0000 108 - C0000 108 06/12/2013 PROOF OF SERVICE FILED BY JOLIET PROSE ... 

C0000 l 09 - C0000 l 09 06/14/2013 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000l 10 - C0000l 15 06/27/2013 CASE LAW 

coooo 116 - coooo 1 16 11/I8/2013 CRIMINAL DOCKET SUMMARY ORDER 

coooo 11 7 - coooo 118 03/25/2014 SUPPLEMENT AL PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

C0000 1 I 9 - C0000l 20 05/06/2014 MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE 

C000012l - C0000121 05/06/2014 ANSWER TO PEOPLE S MOTION FOR PRETRIAL. .. 

C0000l22 - C0000126 10/01/2014 SUBPOENA FOR WITNESS JAMIE KIRK 

C0000I27 - C0000131 10/01/2014 SUBPOENA FOR WITNESS 

C0000l32 -C0000132 l 0/08/2014 MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE 

coooo 133 - coooo 134 10/09/2014 MOTION FOR CERTIFICATE FOR OUT-OF-TO\VN ... 

C0000135 - C0000I36 10/09/2014 CERTIFICATE l 

C0000137 - C0000J38 10/09/2014 MOTION FOR CERTIFICATE FOR OUT-OF-TOW ... 

coooo 139 - coooo 140 10/09/2014 CERTIFICATE 2 

C000014l - C0000141 01/13/2015 MOTION TO CONTINUE 

C0000142 - C0000143 06/23/2015 CERTIFICATE OF ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENA 

C0000144 - C0000145 07/13/2015 CERTIFICATE FOR ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENA ... 

coooo 146 - coooo 146 07/13/2015 AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE 

C0000l47 C0000148 08/06/2015 CERTIFICATE FOR ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENA 0 ... 

C0000149 - C0000150 09/04/2015 CERTIFICATE FOR ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENA 0 ... 

C0000 l 51 - C0000 151 09/04/2015 SUPPLEMENT AL LIST OF WITNESSES 

C0000152 - C0000153 09/04/2015 SUPPLEMENT AL PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

coooo 154 - coooo 15 5 09/09/2015 SUPPLEMENTAL NOTIFICATION OF REPORTS S ... 

C0000156 - C0000158 09/11/2015 MOTION IN LIMINE TO BAR ABSENCE OF POL. .. 

coooo 159 - coooo 161 09/11/2015 MOTION IN LIMINE TO BAR JOLIET POLICE ... 

coooo 162 - coooo 168 09/14/2015 INFORJvIA TION - SIX COUNT INFORMATION 

coooo 169 - coooo 169 09/14/2015 SUPPLEMENTAL LIST OF WITNESSES 

coooo 170 - coooo 170 09/14/2015 SUPPLEMENT AL NOTIFICATION OF REPORTS S ... 

coooo 171 - coooo 1 72 09/14/2015 SUPPLEMENT AL PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

coooo 173 - coooo 173 09/14/2015 ST A TES WITNESS LIST 

C0000174 - C0000174 09/14/2015 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000I 75 - C0000l 75 09/15/2015 JUROR EXCUSE NOTE (IMPOUNDED) 

C0000 176 - C0000 l 76 09/15/2015 PLEA OF GUILTY 

PAMELA J MCGUIRE, CLERK OF THE 12th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT 
JOLIET, [LLINOIS 60432 

III 



IV 
3-15-0880 

.. Table of Contents 

C0000 177 - C0000 I 79 09/15/2015 MOTION TO ADMIT OTHER CRIMES 

coooo 180 - coooo 185 09/15/2015 CASE LAW I 

C0000 186 - C0000206 09/15/20 l 5 CASE LAW 2 

C0000207 - C0000229 09/ 15/20 I 5 CASE LAW 3 

C0000230 - C0000264 09/15/20 15 CASELAW4 

(0000265 - C0000276 09/15/2015 CASE LAW 5 

C0000277 - C0000287 09/15/2015 CASE LAW 6 

C0000288 - C0000308 09/ 15/2015 CASE LAW 7 

C0000309 - C0000325 09/J 5/2015 CASE LAW 8 

C0000326 - C0000328 09/15/2015 BRJEF IN SUPPORT OF STATES MOTION TO ... 

C0000329 - C0000329 09/17/2015 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000330 - C000033 I 09/17/20 I 5 SUBPOENA OFFlCER BOTZUM 

C0000332 - C0000332 09/18/20 I 5 MITTIMUS FOR FAIL URE TO GIVE BAIL FILE .. . 

C0000333 - C0000340 09/18/20 l 5 CASE LAW 

C000034 l - C000034 l 09/18/2015 REQUEST FOR PROBATION FOR PSI - COPY 

C0000342 - C0000342 09/18/2015 JURY YOIR DIRE SELECTION SHEET 

C0000343 - C0000383 09/ 18/2015 JURY I STRUCTJONS JURY VERDICT 

C0000384 - C0000423 09/ 18/2015 JURY INSTRUCTIONS (COPY) 

C0000424 - C0000424 09/ 18/2015 JURORS NOTES (IMPOUNDED) 

C0000425 - C0000425 09/23/2015 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000426 - C0000426 l 0/05/2015 REQUEST FOR PROBATION FOR PSI - COPY 

C0000427 - C0000427 11/18/2015 PSI REPORT DATED 9-29-15 (IMPOUNDED) 

C0000428 - C0000428 11/30/2015 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C0000429 - C0000429 ll/30/2015 MlTTJMUS FOR FAILURE TO GIVE BAIL FILE .. . 

C0000430 - C000043 I 11/30/2015 MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 

C0000432 - C0000432 11/30/2015 LETTER FROM DAVID PACHECO 

C0000433 - C0000433 12/09/2015 SHERIFF FEE BILL FILED 

C00004 34 - C00004 3 5 12/17/2015 MOTION TO RECONSIDER SENTENCE 

C0000436 - C0000436 12/ 17 /20 I 5 AFFlDA VIT OF ASSETS AND LJABJLITIES 

C0000437 - C0000437 12/17/2015 JUDGMENT- SENTENCE-JDOC 

C0000438 - C000044 l 12/17/2015 CRIMINAL COST SHEET 

C0000442 - C0000442 12/17/2015 STATEMENT OF FACTS 

C0000443 - C0000443 12/17/2015 SEE ORDER SIGNED 

C0000444 - C0000444 12/17/2015 SHERIFF FEE BJLL FILED 

C0000445 - C0000445 12/17/2015 CLERK S CERTlFICATE OF MAILING NOTICE .. . 

C0000446 - C0000446 12/ 17/2015 ORDER FOR FREE TRANSCRIPTS APP OF ST AT. .. 

C0000447 - C0000447 12/1 7/20 l 5 NOTICE OF APPEAL 

C0000448 - C0000448 12/ 17/2015 CASE TITLE 

C0000449 - C0000449 12/17/2015 CLERK S CERTIFICATE OF NOTIFICATION TO ... 

A35 PAMELA J MCGUIRE, CLERK OF THE 12th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT © 
JOLIET, fLLINOlS 60432 

llF ~lill~11TT(D - 17Xl<~.•sw . \\!LLMrE,\L . o< : J Ztll(,AA ""·j~ /\M DO< l/ME"-T A<TEPTEOON 05'2l ,l ltl6 095 !, 49 Mv! lV 
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM 



A36
SUBMITTED - 17446017 - Criminal Appeals, OAG - 4/11/2022 12:28 PM

2 535

'• T8ble of Contents 

C0000450 - C0000450 

C0000451 - C0000451 

C0000452 - C0000453 

C0000454 - C0000455 

C0000456 - C0000482 

3-15-0880 

12/24/2015 SHERIFF JAIL DOC RECEIPT 

02/19/2016 APPELLATE COURT ORDER ON THE COURTS 0 ... 

12CF! 799 FINANCIALS 3-15-0880 

l 2CF 1799 DOCKETING DUE DA TES 3-15-0880 

2012CF001799 - DOCKET 3-15-0880 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF TRIAL COURT RECORD 

PAMELA J MCGUfRE, CLERK OF THE 12th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT ,:g 
JOLIET, ILLINOIS 60432 

IJF Sl :H/'diTTED ! 7r(X~.'589 - W[LLAPP[AL ~ 05/23,2016 08:42·36 AM DOCL'i\ffNT :V TEPTED \ lN: O~. 2:l 2016 WUr\:49 A,\4 

V 

V 




